



Department of Biology and Biotechnology "Charles Darwin"

PRIMARY HEPATOCYTES AS A MODEL TO INVESTIGATE NON-ALCOHOLIC FATTY LIVER DISEASE (NAFLD): POTENTIAL THERAPEUTIC EFFECTS OF DIIODOTHYRONINES

Supervisor

Dott. Giovannella Bruscalupi

PhD student Davide Gnocchi

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

1. The Liver	
1.1 Rat Liver	4
1.2 Human Liver	6
1.3 Metabolic Functions	11
2. Thyroid Hormones and Dijodothyronines	
2.1 Synthesis and metabolism	17
2.2 Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Thyroid (HPT) Axis	21
2.3 Physiological Effects	21
2.4 Way of Action	23
2.5 Diiodothyronines	27
3. Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD)	
3.1 General features	28
3.2 Pathogenesis	33
3.3 Insights on Insulin Resistance (IR)	39
3.3.1 Insulin action: normal and pathological	39
3.3.2 Insulin resistance	42
3.4 mTOR: Structure and Functions	46
3.4.1 Structure	46
3.4.2 mTORC1 & mTORC2: upstream	48
3.4.3 mTORC1 & mTORC2: downstream	52
3.4.4 mTORC1 & mTORC2: metabolic functions and tissue-specific roles	55
3.5 Role of Fructose in NAFLD	61
AIM OF THE WORK	65
MATERIALS and METHODS	71
RESULTS	84

FIGURES	90
DISCUSSION	109
REFERENCES	114

INTRODUCTION

1. THE LIVER

1.1 Rat Liver

Rat liver is constituted of four separate lobes, each one having different size and weight and named according to their position. The left lateral lobe is situated in left lateral position dorso-caudal to the median lobe and cranio-ventral to the caudate lobe and the stomach. This lobe has an average weight of 33 g, representing about 30% of the total liver mass, is associated to the base of the left portion of the median lobe by means of the thin vessels-enclosing pedicle that is in connection to the intrahepatic vena cava, and moreover interlobular ligaments link it with the superior caudate lobe. The median lobe, which accounts for about 40% (38 g) of the total liver weight, is placed under the diaphragm, fixed by means of falciform ligament that is extended from the xyphoid and diaphragm to the interlobular fissure. This lobe is characterised by a wide base, which surrounds about one half of the circumference of the vena cava, and is subdivided in a left part separated to the right part by a deep fissure. The right lobe is positioned on the right side of the vena cava, and is possible to distinguish two parts, the right superior and the right inferior lobe, the first representing 13% of the total liver mass, the latter about 6%. The caudate lobe, or Spiegel lobe, arranged on the left part of the vena cava, has an average weight of 7 grams, and consists of two parts, superior or upper caudate lobe, and inferior or lower caudate lobe.

The so-called paracaval liver should not be considered as a definite anatomic part of the liver, but rather as a functional assembly of the dorsal bottom portions of the right superior, inferior, and caudate lobes. It is bound to the dorsal portion of the diaphragm by thin ligaments, and covers the space from the pedicles of the diaphragm to the base of the right inferior lobe. The paracaval liver as a whole represents about 2.5% - 3% of the total liver mass (Madrahimov N et al., 2006).



Weight distribution in rat liver lobes (RD-758-763, male Lewis, 285-310g,n=6)

Figure 1 Rat liver lobes: weight distribution (from Madrahimov N et al., 2006).

About the circulatory system of the rat liver, on the functional point of view, two main venous systems are recognised, the portal system and the hepatic vein system. The first one has two main branches, the right portal vein that furnishes the right liver lobe, and the caudate portal vein, which is located on the left side and supplies the caudate lobe. A series of subsequent ramifications allow the portal vein to reach all lobes of the liver, as depicted below in Figure 2. The paracaval liver is furnished of portal blood from three distinctive sources, the left part from subdivisions of the caudate portal vein, the right one from the right portal vein, whereas the intermediate and cranial tissue from veins deriving from the dorsal wall of the main portal venous stem. The subdivisions of the hepatic artery parallel those of portal vein.



Figure 2 Rat liver: schematic representation of portal vein anatomy (from Madrahimov N et al., 2006).

The hepatic venous system collects blood from the left and the right part of the liver, by means of different veins as represented in Figure 3. The left hepatic vein, which is subdivided in a median and a lateral portion, drains the left lateral lobe and the left portion of the median lobe. The right median hepatic vein gathers the blood from right hemi liver, whereas the caudate vein does the same from the caudate lobe. Numerous small veins have the role to collect the blood from the paracaval liver, directing it into the intrahepatic part of the vena cava (Madrahimov N et al., 2006).



Figure 3 Rat liver: schematic representation of hepatic vein anatomy (from Madrahimov N et al., 2006).

1.2 Human Liver

In humans the liver is located, together with biliary tree and the gallbladder, in the right upper quadrant of the abdominal cavity, between the digestive tract and the remaining part of the internal organs. From the anatomical point of view, the human liver is positioned under the rib cage and covers the space between the right fifth

intercostal space and the midclavicular line, below the costal border. In normal adult people, the liver weight usually ranges between 1.4 to 1.6 kg, and traditionally was subdivided into four separate lobes, right, left, caudate and quadrate. About 25% of total blood pumped by the heart it is required to the liver to function properly, and it enters the liver for the most part (60%-70%) from the portal vein and for the remaining part (30%-40%) from the hepatic artery through the hilum. In the same district arrives the major bile duct, whereas the initial right and left branches of the portal vein, hepatic artery, and bile duct are positioned immediately external to the liver. The remaining part of the circulatory tree runs parallel wise inside the liver in the so-called portal tracts, giving rise to 17 to 20 orders of branches; it has been evaluated that almost all hepatic parenchyma is supplied thanks to about 4.5•10⁵ terminal branches of the portal tract system. Septal venules transport portal vein blood inside parenchyma, whereas all the parenchyma, the principal bile ducts, the vasa vasorum of the major portal veins and hepatic veins, and the hepatic capsule are supplied by means of hepatic arteriolar twigs. Blood collected from all regions into ramification of the hepatic vein is brought outside the liver itself through the inferior vena cava. The circulatory system of the human liver is depicted in Figure 4.



Source: Morgan GE, Mikhail MS, Murray MJ: *Clinical Anesthesiology*, 4th Edition: http://www.accessmedicine.com Copyright © The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. All rights reserved.

Figure 4 Human liver: schematic representation of circulatory system.

About the microscopic organisation of the human liver, the first well recognised structures were the so-called lobules, 1-2 mm diameter roughly hexagonal assemblies, situated all-around the terminal hepatic veins, portal tracts being placed at the periphery of the lobule. In this way, it is possible to distinguish centrilobular hepatocytes, located near the terminal hepatic vein, and periportal hepatocytes, sited close to the portal tract. Anyway, considering that hepatocytes in close proximity to the terminal hepatic veins are very far from the blood supply, it has been suggested that they could be placed at the top of hypothetical triangular acini, the bases of which constituted by septal venules that enter from the portal vein spreading from the portal tracts. The parenchyma inside the acinus could be subdivided into three distinct zones: zone 1, nearest to the vascular supply, zone 3 being adjacent to the terminal hepatic venule, and zone 2 in the middle. This sort of "zonation" has been found to have great metabolic relevance, considering that several hepatic enzymes show a lobular gradient

of activity, and also a lot of types of hepatic injuries have a zonal pattern of manifestation (Jungermann K, Kietzmann T, 1996).

The typical structures of the hepatic parenchyma are the cribriform, anastomosing sheets or "plates" of hepatocytes, easily distinguishable as a sort of threads of cells in microscopic images. Hepatocytes placed in the near proximity of the portal tract have been named as the limiting plate, and they are characterised by the peculiarity to form a sort of irregular border around the mesenchyme of the portal tract. Moreover, the hepatocytes cords previously described are radially oriented around the terminal hepatic vein.



Figure 5 Human liver: schematic representation of microscopic organisation of hepatic parenchyma.

Vascular sinusoids are intercalated between the cords of hepatocytes, and are crossed by blood, which in turn finds the way out to the terminal hepatic vein passing through the orifices of the vein wall. Each sinusoid is delimitated by fenestrated endothelial cells that delineate the extra sinusoidal space of Disse, which is rich in hepatocytes microvilli. Kupffer cells, which belongs to the mononuclear phagocyte system, are distributed in close proximity of the luminal face of endothelial cells, and the typical fat-containing perisinusoidal stellate cells are placed in a disperse manner inside the space of Disse. Stellate cells take part in the accumulation and metabolism of vitamin A, and when in presence of an inflammatory condition they acquire a myofibroblast phenotype, beginning to produce collagen.

Bile canaliculi are a sort of microscopic channels 1 to 2 μ m in diameter connecting adjacent hepatocytes, shaped by grooves in the plasma membranes and demarcated from the vascular space by means of tight junctions. These intercellular spaces, which represent the final branches of the biliary tree, are filled with many microvilli; actin and myosin microfilaments that surround canaliculi provide the energy required to drive biliary fluid along the canaliculi, until the canals of Hering in the periportal region. Biliary fluid is then transferred to bile ductules, and finally to the terminal bile ducts within the portal tracts.



Figure 6 Human liver: schematic representation of microscopic organisation of hepatic parenchyma, with particular reference to circulatory and biliary systems.

1.3 Metabolic functions

In Mammals the liver is probably the most important organ from a metabolic point of view, considering that it takes a fundamental part in the metabolism of all nutrient molecules and most hormones, in bile formation and excretion, in detoxifications reactions of many toxins and drugs (Stryer L, 1997).

Carbohydrates

All complex carbohydrates are catabolised to give glucose, fructose and galactose, and even if the liver has the ability to metabolise huge quantities of fructose, giving lactate as a final product, the most part of fructose and galactose are converted in glucose entering in its main metabolic pathway. In the liver (and adipose tissue as well) the phosphogluconate pathway is operative too, providing a cofactor essential for the fatty acids biosynthetic pathway (Stryer L, 1997).

The great majority of glucose introduced during a meal is converted and stored as glycogen, primarily inside the liver and to a lesser extent in skeletal muscle. Usually in Man, the maximum amount of glycogen that can be accumulated inside the liver is about 200 g, and when this threshold is surpassed, the liver gets start to the lipogenic pathway (Stryer L, 1997).

The liver and kidney play also an essential role considering their peculiar characteristic to possess the biochemical machinery needed to synthesise glucose starting from lactate, pyruvate, amino acids (principally alanine) and glycerol. From a physiological point of view this ability is of vital importance in maintenance of haematic glucose homeostasis, glucocorticoids, catecholamines, glucagon and thyroid hormone increasing gluconeogenesis, and insulin reducing it (Stryer L, 1997).

11

Lipids

The liver is able to stock excess of carbohydrates introduced with diet as glycogen, but when these stores become saturated, the lipogenic pathway start to work, converting carbohydrates and proteins as well into fatty acids. Hepatocytes can employ these fatty acids directly or store them, in synergy with white adipose tissue. Fatty acids can be utilised as fuel molecules from most cell types, with the exception of erythrocytes and renal medulla, which are strictly glucose-dependent. Brain has not a similar stringent dependence on glucose, considering that after several days without it, neurons show the ability to catabolise ketone bodies produced by the liver (Stryer L, 1997).

The final product of fatty acid oxidation is acetyl coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA), which in turn enters the citric acid cycle. Under conditions of excess of acetyl-CoA, the liver can produce the ketone body acetoacetic acid that can be used by other cell types as an energetic substrate, after reconversion into acetyl-CoA. Acetyl-CoA represents the principal building block necessary to synthesise cholesterol and phospholipids as well (Stryer L, 1997).

Proteins

The liver is certainly the key organ in protein metabolism, considering that if some block would occur in its functionality consequences at whole organism level could be fatal in few days. Four main stages can be summarised, i.e. deamination of amino acids, formation of urea, conversion between nonessential amino acids, production of plasma proteins (Stryer L, 1997).

Transamination reactions remove the amino group from amino acids giving the respective keto acids as a product. The great majority of amino acids introduced as protein from foods are deaminated at the liver level, only very little amounts being

processed in the kidneys, and the particular case of branched-chain amino acids (leucine, isoleucine, valine) that are catabolised almost exclusively in skeletal muscle. For what concerns plasma proteins, excluding immunoglobulin, the liver synthesizes the remaining part. From a strictly quantitative point of view, albumin, α_1 -antitrypsin and other proteases and elastases are the most abundant proteins produced by the liver. The function of liver in regulating plasma concentration of albumin is indeed very important, since this protein binds and transport fatty acids, several hormones and drugs, and keeps oncotic pressure in the plasma at normal values (Stryer L, 1997).

From a qualitative point of view, coagulation factors are without any doubt a class of essential proteins that, excluding factor VIII and von Willebrand factor, are all synthesized at the hepatic level. In particular it is meaningful to mention the vitamin K-dependent biosynthesis of prothrombin or factor II, and of factors VII, IX and X (Stryer L, 1997).

Other central proteins produced by the liver comprise complement, C-reactive protein, serum amyloid A, α_1 -acid glycoprotein, but also transport proteins as transferrin, ceruloplasmin and haptoglobin, and protease inhibitors as α_1 -antitrypsin, α_2 -antiplasmin and antithrombin III. To be mentioned is plasma cholinesterase, the so-called pseudocholinesterase, which hydrolysing esters plays an essential role in the clearance of several local anaesthetics and succinylcholine (Stryer L, 1997).

Figure 7 summarises the principal metabolic pathways that takes place in the liver.



Figure 7 Human liver: schematic representation of metabolic pathways.

Drugs

The liver has certainly to be considered the principal site where exogenous molecules and most drugs are catabolised. At the hepatocyte level these substances are deactivated and transformed to obtain more water-soluble compounds, which are finally excreted through bile and/or urine.

Two main categories of reactions can be described in this regard, named phase I and phase II. Phase I reactions typically are characterised by the direct modification of reactive groups, thanks to mixed-function oxidases and/or cytochrome P-450 system, finally resulting in oxidations, methylations, deaminations, dealkylations and sulfoxidations. Striking examples of drugs cleared through this pathway are benzodiazepines, barbiturates, ketamine and ethanol, which are also able to induce the synthesis of the enzymes of the cytochrome P-450 system. Phase II reactions, on the

other hand, are characterised by conjugation reactions with glycine, taurine, and sulphate and glucuronide groups. After conjugation the product can be discarded through bile or urine (Stryer L, 1997).

Other metabolites

The liver performs several essential metabolic functions for what concerns vitamins, minerals and hormones. Vitamins A, B_{12} , E, D and K are stored mainly in the hepatocyte, whereas transferrin and haptoglobin, and ceruloplasmin are the key proteins that regulate iron and copper balance respectively. Regarding the role in hormones metabolism, well known is the function performed on thyroid hormone balance, considering that the great majority of triiodothyronine (T_3) is produced at the hepatic level, as well as all the steps required for its breakdown. Similarly, at the hepatic level takes place catabolism of glucagon, antidiuretic hormone, insulin and steroid hormones as oestrogens, cortisol and aldosterone (Stryer L, 1997).

Bile

Bile has a fundamental part in the processes of fat absorption and cholesterol, bilirubin and most drugs elimination. Phospholipids, conjugated bilirubin, cholesterol (0.3%), bile salts (10%) and other elements as mucus and pigments (3%), inorganic salts (0.7%), are secreted constantly into bile canaliculi. Bile is produced thanks to three principal mechanisms: a) Na^+/K^+ -adenosine triphosphatase-mediated ion transport (bile salt-independent fraction), b) osmotic filtration induced by secretion of bile salts into canaliculi (bile salt-dependent fraction), c) secretin-mediated sodium and bicarbonate transport by ductules.

Bile produced in this way is directed into the duodenum through the common bile duct, formed by the joining of hepatic duct, which comes from connection of right and left hepatic ducts originating from hepatic lobules, with cystic duct from the

15

gallbladder. Sphincter of Oddi is deputed to control the biliary flow from the common bile duct into the duodenum. The gallbladder has the function to accumulate biliary fluid between meals, thanks to active sodium transport and passive water reabsorption. When cholecystokinin is liberated from the intestinal mucosa due to protein and fats, gallbladder is induced to shrink, sphincter of Oddi undergo to relaxation and bile is transferred into the small intestine.

From the functional point of view, the bile acids play an important role in facilitating the absorption of lipids operated by intestine as well as in helping emulsifying insoluble components of bile and elimination of cholesterol. The two most important bile acids, cholic acid and chenodeoxycholic acid, are conjugated with glycine and taurine and, as salts are secreted into bile. Inside the colon they are modified, by bacteria, to deoxycholic acid and lithocholic acid respectively, the so-called secondary bile acids. These ones play indeed an essential role in vitamin homeostasis, considering that any trouble affecting bile salts formation and/or secretion alters the normal process of absorption of fats and consequently of fat-soluble vitamins. Bilirubin is produced when the haeme ring is degraded inside Kupffer cells, due to the action of heme oxygenase that gives back biliverdin, carbon monoxide and iron; biliverdin in turn is converted to bilirubin by biliverdin reductase. Once produced bilirubin passes in the bloodstream, binds to albumin and thenceforth it enters inside hepatocytes, where the binding to intracellular proteins block it inside the cell. The hepatocyte possesses the enzymatic machinery needed to conjugate bilirubin with glucuronide, permitting the conjugated product to be excreted into bile canaliculi, only a minor fraction being reabsorbed into the blood. Once into the intestine, colonic bacteria transform about a half of bilirubin in urobilinogen, which in turn is partly

reabsorbed by the intestine and brought back to the liver (enterohepatic recirculation), and partially excreted through the kidney (Stryer L, 1997).

2. THYROID HORMONES and DIIODOTHYRONINES

2.1 Synthesis and metabolism

Thyroid gland is an endocrine gland, present in all Vertebrates, starting from adult Cyclostomata to Mammals and Man. Its microscopic anatomy is characterised by a vesicular structure, organised in oval or spherical cystic follicles, lined by a monostratified epithelium, composed by cells with different heights, often cubic in shape. The fundamental physiological characteristic of this gland is its peculiar ability to concentrate iodine and to use it to synthesize thyroid hormones (Padoa E, 1978).

Thyroid hormones are synthesized, with similar mechanisms in all Vertebrates, in the colloid, a sort of gel that fills the internal part of the thyroid follicles. Iodine, ingested with foods, is reduced to iodide ion in the intestine, enters the bloodstream and is absorbed into the epithelial thyroid cells. This process is mediated by the Na⁺/I⁺ transporter, which works using the high Na⁺ extracellular concentration, which is produced by the action of Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase pump (Dai G et al., 1996).

Iodine is transported inside the thyroid follicle together with thyroglobulin, a 660-kDa glycoprotein, which contains 134-140 tyrosine residues. Iodine can be bound on about a quarter of these residues: this reaction that takes place at the interface between apical follicular cells and colloid, is catalysed by thyroid peroxidase (TPO), an haeme-based enzyme, localised in the apical plasma membrane of thyroidal epithelial cells. After that iodine has been covalently bound, thyroglobulin enters the colloid, where TPO also catalyse the coupling reaction between iodinated tyrosine residues: two diiodotyrosine lead to formation of thyroxine $(3,5,3',5'-tetraiodothyronine, T_4)$,

whereas one diiodotyrosine with one monoiodotyrosine give rise to 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine or T₃ (Yen PM, 2001).

After synthesis thyroid hormones are cut from thyroglobulin inside lysosomes of thyroidal epithelial cells, then diffuse outside lysosomes, and through epithelial cells basal membrane, enter the bloodstream (Taurog A, 1996).

In Man thyroid produces, every day, approximately 100 µg of thyroid hormones, the major part being represented by T_4 (\approx 90%) and its concentration in the serum is about 40 times higher with respect to T_3 (90 nM vs. 2 nM). Only the 0.03% of total T_4 found in serum is free, whilst the remaining part is bound to carrier proteins, as thyroxin-binding globulin (TBG), transthyretin (TTR), thyroxin-binding prealbumin (TBPA) and albumin; lesser amounts are bound to lipoproteins as well. For what concerns T_3 , only about 0.3% is free in the serum, whereas the vast majority is transported by TBG, albumin, and lipoproteins. TBG is a 64-kDa tetrameric protein, and each monomer binds to one single thyronine (Robbins J, 2000).

In humans roughly 80% of plasmatic T_4 is coupled to TBG, 15% to TTR and 5% to albumin and lipoproteins, differently to T_3 , 90% of which is coupled to TBG and the remaining 10% to albumin and lipoproteins (Choksi NY et al., 2003). In rodents TBG gene is expressed at very low levels and consequently almost all T_4 and T_3 are found bound to albumin and TTR (Kaneko JJ, 1989).

Once reached the target-organs thyroid hormones enter the cells through specific transporters (Hennemann G et al., 2001) or receptors for TBG and TTR (Robbins J, 2000).

The principal pathway leading to T_3 production is deiodination at position 5' of T_4 external ring, operated by deiodinases (Kohrle J, 2000). In man and rodents, about 10% of T_4 is deiodinated to T_3 before secretion by deiodinase type I (DI), whereas, for

18

the other 90%, deiodination takes place in the liver and in the kidney. In the brain, anterior pituitary gland, skeletal muscle, placenta, and in rodents also in brown adipose tissue, deiodinase type II (DII) is responsible for production of small amounts of T_3 . Finally, deiodinase type III (DIII), localised in the brain, placenta, and foetal tissues, in man and rodents, is able to perform deiodination only on the inner ring of T_4 and T_3 molecules, giving rise to diiodothyronines and to 3,5', 3'-triiodothyronine or reverse T_3 (rT₃), which can be considered as the first step in the catabolic pathway of thyroid hormone (Wassen FW et al., 2004), even if some recent reports suggest that this molecule might have some biological effects (Cheng SY et al., 2010).

In adult men T_4 and T_3 serum half-lives are, respectively, 5-9 days and 1 day, whereas in rats, 12-24 hours and 6 hours (Choksi NY et al., 2003).



3,5,3'5'-Tetraiodothyronine (thyroxine, or T₄)



Figure 8 Thyroid hormone: schematic representation of catabolic pathways.

2.2 Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Thyroid (HPT) Axis

Thyroid hormones synthesis and secretion are tightly regulated by a negative feedback loop, involving the so-called Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Thyroid (HPT) Axis. This finely tuned control mechanism is achieved by the action of two hormones, Thyrotropin Releasing Hormone (TRH) produced by hypothalamus, and Thyroid Simulating Hormone (TSH), secreted by pituitary gland (Randall D et al., 1997).

Elevated concentrations of thyroid hormones in blood lead to inhibition of TRH production and consequently to a decrease of TSH secretion. It is well known that thyroid hormones are able to reduce the responsiveness of thyrotrophic cells to TRH, and that the ability of these cells to respond to TRH depends on their T_3 internal concentration. When T_3 levels are low, the number of TRH receptors increases inducing an increase in the synthesis of TSH, on the contrary, when in presence of higher T_3 concentrations, TRH receptors decrease as well as TSH production (Fliers E et al., 2006).

This regulation system is influenced by internal as well as external factors. Concerning the internal ones, somatostatin and dopamine negatively regulate TSH secretion in the hypothalamus (Samuels MH et al., 1992). One the other hand, among the external factors, one of the best known is the effect of changes in the atmospheric temperature in man as well as in rat: for example, in man, four days in a cold environment are able to induce an increase in the levels of TRH, TSH and as a consequence of circulating thyroid hormones, leading to a rise in basal metabolic rate and in heat generation (Eastman CJ et al., 1974). Similar results have been observed in rats, after 24h exposure to cold (Tuominen RH et al., 1985). Moreover, at the pituitary gland level, is well documented the inhibitory effect on TSH secretion induced by glucocorticoids

(Wilber JF, Utiger RB, 1969), and the stimulatory one provoked by oestrogens (Yarwood NJ et al., 1993).



Figure 9 Thyroid hormone: schematic representation of Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Thyroid (HPT) axis.

2.3 Physiological Effects

In Mammals, thyroid hormones exert a wide variety of fundamental physiological effects including regulation of energetic metabolism, body temperature and growth, and bone metabolism. Essential are also actions exerted on cardiovascular and central nervous systems.

In almost all tissues, with the exception of brain, spleen and testicles, thyroid hormones are able to induce an acceleration of metabolic processes, due to an increase of mitochondria number and size and also to a stimulation of synthesis of respiratory chain enzymes (Wrutniak-Cabello C et al., 2001). Moreover an increase of Na^+/K^+

ATPase molecules has been observed, due to enhanced transcription coupled to augmented transport of primary transcripts from the nucleus to the cytoplasm (Harrison AP, Clausen T, 1998). It is useful to remember that 15% to 40% of the energy produced by cells is consumed to keep the electrochemical gradient across the cell membrane, so an intensification of activity of Na^+/K^+ ATPase necessarily parallels with an increase of basal metabolic rate.

Important effects have been described on lipid and cholesterol metabolism at the hepatic level, where thyroid hormone is able to up regulate malic enzyme, glucose-6-P-dehydrogenase and fatty acid synthase (Oppenheimer JH et al., 1995), and also acid cholesterol ester hydrolase (Severson DL, Fletcher T, 1981) and LDL receptor (Scarabottolo L et al., 1986).

About the role of thyroid hormones in the regulation of carbohydrate metabolism, it has been shown that the great majority of the enzymes involved in the gluconeogenesis are stimulated (Feng X et al., 2000), together with GLUT4 glucose transporter gene expression (Chidakel A et al., 2005).

Thyroid hormone displays relevant physiological actions on bone metabolism as historically described in patients that develop hypothyroidism during childhood, which classically show delayed growth and short stature. Deleterious effects on bone mass have likewise been reported in hyperthyroidism, which induces lost of thickness and increase in porosity (Greenspan SL, Greenspan FS, 1999).

On the cardiovascular system thyroid hormones reduce systemic vascular resistance, and induce vasodilatation, leading to an increase of blood flow. Heart frequency, contractility and amount of blood pumped are as well stimulated, as shown examining hyper- and hypothyroid patients (Klein I, Ojamaa K, 1998).

Fundamental functions are played by thyroid hormones in correct development and functionality of brain, both in humans and rats. In Man, neonatal hypothyroidism results in mental retardation and neurological defects (Bernal J, 1999). In rats, neonatal thyroid hormones deprivation leads to a decrease in axonal growth and dendritic spread, in cerebral, watching and hearing cortex, in hippocampus and cerebellum (Rabie A et al., 1977). In adults the influence exerted by thyroid hormones is similarly very pronounced: hyperthyroidism is able to induce increase of CNS excitability, whereas hypothyroidism have the opposite effect, as shown in rats, where reduction in response to visual and acoustic stimuli, slowed reflexes, and smaller alpha waves in electroencephalogram have been well documented (Padoa E, 1978).

2.4 Way of Action

Genomic Effects

Once reached target cells thyroid hormones generate a lot of biological effects, some of which described above.

Historically it was shown that thyroid hormone actions are mediated by nuclear receptors (TRs), tightly associated with chromatin and with high affinity and specificity for T₃. Thyroid hormones enter into the target cell, where T₃ is produced by deiodination of T₄, and in the nucleus it binds to TRs, which are associated to Thyroid Response Elements (TREs), found in the promoter region of target genes. Formation of T₃-TR-TRE complexes is the first step in the process of regulation, positive as well as negative, of target genes under thyroid hormone control (Samuels HH et al., 1988). TRs are members of the same nuclear receptors superfamily that includes steroid hormones, Vitamin D and retinoic acid. In humans, rat, mice, chicken and amphibian, two isoforms have been discovered, TRα and TRβ, codified by two separate genes,

located respectively on chromosomes 17 and 3 in man. Both isoforms bind T_3 ($K_D = 10^{-9}$ and 10^{-10} respectively) and are involved in mediating gene expression induced by thyroid hormone. Moreover additional isoforms are produced by alternative splicing, giving rise to TRa1 and TRa2, the latter acting as transcriptional inhibitor, and to TR β 1 and TR β 2. TRa1 is expressed mainly in skeletal muscle and brown adipose tissue, whereas TRa2 is found more ubiquitously. TR β 1 is concentrated principally in brain, liver and kidney, whilst TR β 2 is located exclusively in the anterior pituitary gland and in specific hypothalamic areas (Lazar MA, Chin WW, 1990).

The mechanism that leads to transcription of the genes under thyroid hormone control is complex, and a comprehensive description is out of the aims of this thesis. Anyway it is important to underline some key aspects of this process. First of all, TRs bind to TREs as monomers, homodimers, but also as heterodimers with another important class of nuclear receptors, i.e. Retinoid X Receptors (RXRs). RXRs bind 9-cis-retinoic acid with high affinity, and form homodimers with Retinoid Acid Receptors (RARs), Vit. D Receptors (VDRs) and Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Proteins (PPARs) (Glass CK, 1994). This characteristic is important because in this way the amount of target genes that can be regulated by T₃ is largely increased, considering that heterodimers binds to TREs at different sites and with different orientation with respect to homodimers (Glass CK, 1994).

The best model known until now describing the transcriptional activation induced by thyroid hormones states that T_3 binding to its own nuclear receptor is able to remove a transcriptional block imposed by a co-repressor complex located on TRE. A lot of co-repressor and co-activator proteins have been identified to date, which probably widen the range of tissue specificity of the hormonal action (Yen PM et al., 2001).



Figure 10 Thyroid hormone: schematic representation of genomic effects.

Nongenomic Effects

Until three decades ago the vast majority of scientific community was convinced that the only way by which thyroid hormones were able to trigger biological effects was through transcriptional activation of specific genes, i.e. through a genomic way.

Starting from the early '80s new ideas emerged from the work of several researchers, which introduce the concept that thyroid hormones could induce several important responses also without directly affecting gene expression, in the so-called nongenomic way. Typically these effects are characterised by rapid onset (seconds or minutes), and direct interaction of thyroid hormones, both T_3 and T_4 , with plasma membrane proteins and/or specific receptors, resulting in allosteric activations and induction of cell signaling pathways. Some striking examples are represented by the direct stimulation by T_3 of human Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in vitro (Davis FB et al., 1983) and 2-deoxyglucose uptake in rat thymocytes in vitro (Segal J, Ingbar SH, 1981), but several others have been described to date. More recently specific effects on ionic fluxes through the cell membrane have been reported, as for activation of inward rectifier potassium channels currents (Sakaguchi Y et al., 1996), Na⁺/H⁺ antiport (Incerpi S et

al., 1999) and Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ currents (Wang YG et al., 2003). Typically these actions show a time of onset that ranges between 30 sec to 20 min after hormonal stimulation and are observed using concentrations included in the interval 1 nM to 10 nM (Davis PJ et al., 2005).

Some specific biological actions have been discovered for T_4 as well, especially for what concerns several signaling pathways. For example induction of tyrosine phosphorylation and consequent translocation inside the nucleus of STAT3 transcription factor has been observed and shown to be dependent on PKC, MAPK and Raf-1 activation. Moreover a stimulation of interaction between MAPK and TR β 1 leading to phosphorylation of this receptor has been reported, which has been shown to be phosphorylated by p38 MAPK as well (Yen PM, 2001). Other reports have assessed the role of T_4 in the activation of PLC, leading to DAG production and PKC activation (Kavok N et al., 2001).

All these observations could suggest the existence of a membrane receptor for thyroid hormone mediating these effects, and, in fact, a high affinity binding-site has been identified on integrin $\alpha V\beta 3$ in a fibroblast cell line (Bergh JJ et al., 2005). Since that discovery several other papers have reported and described biological effects due to the interaction with this integrin (Scarlett A et al., 2008; Yalcin M et al., 2010).

Interestingly, two recent papers suggested that thyroid hormones, and in particular T_3 , may exert their effects through a novel nongenomic way, which is mediated by a cytoplasmic TR β 1 and finally leads to Akt activation (Verga Falzacappa C et al., 2007; Verga Falzacappa C et al., 2009).

In Figure 11 are represented several nongenomic effects triggered by T_4 , T_3 and rT_3 , which lead to the activation of specific signaling pathways.



Figure 11 Thyroid hormone: schematic representation of nongenomic effects.

2.5 Diiodothyronines

Until two decades ago diiodothyronines, 3,5-diiodothyronine $(3,5-T_2)$ and 3,3'diiodothyronine $(3,3'-T_2)$, were considered only a product of catabolism of thyroid hormone, without any significant biological effect. But from the mid '90s several reports began to describe some metabolic actions at the mitochondrial level, these molecules being able to rapidly stimulate oxidative rate in rat liver (Lanni A et al., 1992), by binding and stimulating activity of cytochrome c oxidase, as shown in rat hepatocytes *in vitro* (Lanni A et al., 1994), and confirmed on isolated enzyme as well (Goglia F et al., 1994). Moreover a calorigenic effect of both diiodothyronines was found to exist in rats *in vivo* (Lanni A et al., 1996). Indeed it was later demonstrated that 3,5-T₂ is able to bind to subunit Va of cytochrome c oxidase, completely abolishing allosteric inhibition, which usually takes places when [ATP]/[ADP] ratio is high (Arnold S et al., 1998). Recently a direct role of $3,5-T_2$ in increasing the activity of glucose-6-P-dehydrogenase has been assessed in rat (Lombardi A et al., 2000), supporting the idea of a biologically active molecule.

It is interesting to underline that no other physiological effects have been described to date for diiodothyronines, so they do not show most of the well-known effect of thyroid hormone described above. Only one report demonstrates that $3,5-T_2$ displays some selective thyromimetic effects *in vivo* and *in vitro*, being able to suppress TSH secretion, even if 50% less with respect to thyroid hormone (Ball SG et al., 1997).

Moreover no receptors have been identified until now for diiodothyronines, nor nuclear, cytoplasmic, or plasma membrane ones. Three cytoplasmic proteins able to bind $3,5-T_2$ have been identified in rat liver, but no insights about the role played by these proteins have been proposed (Moreno M et al., 2003).

3. NON-ALCOHOLIC FATTY LIVER DISEASE (NAFLD)

3.1 General features

Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) is nowadays considered one of the most considerable pathologic conditions affecting the liver especially in western world, with the higher prevalence observed in United States of America, United Kingdom and north of Europe. Recent reports suggest that about 15% to 20% of population from different countries could be affected, with an increasing incidence of people at risk to develop this pathology (Anderson N, Borlak J, 2008). The frequency is much higher in obese population, for which epidemiological studies report percentages that ranges from 57.5% to 74% (Browning JD et al., 2004). NAFLD has been described in children as well, with 2.6% occurrence in non-obese subjects, which rises to 22.5% in obese ones (Angulo P, 2002).

From a clinical point of view, NAFLD can be diagnosed because usually patients show the same typical manifestations observed in Alcoholic Liver Disease (ALD), but without any excessive consumption of alcoholic beverages. According to some authors the amount of alcohol consumed should be lower than 20 g for women and 30 g for men to be in presence of NAFLD (Bellentani S et al., 1997).

For what concerns the diagnostic analysis that can be employed in NAFLD assessment, no one of the most common laboratory tests can provide a clear and definitive indication of this pathology, liver biopsy being the only instrument with which is possible to obtain a well-defined evidence of the presence of this condition (Angulo P, 2002). Several risk factors and clinical manifestations can anyway provide some useful indications about the possible presence of NAFLD. It has been reported that hyperlipidemia, obesity and type II diabetes are recurrently observed in patients with NAFLD. For example obese population (BMI≥30) has been found to have a higher incidence of a factor of about 5 with respect to non-obese people (Bellentani S et al., 2000). Moreover, a positive correlation between truncal obesity and NAFLD has been reported also in patients with regular BMI (Ruderman N et al., 1998). In about half of patients presenting hyperlipidemia analysed in one clinical study the presence of NAFLD was subsequently reported, and the same study established that hypertriglyceridemia is a more dangerous risk factor if compared with hypercholesterolemia (Assy N et al., 2000). About the clinical manifestations of NAFLD, it is important to underline that most people affected have no evident signs of the pathology, with the exception of a sense of fullness and/or mild ache on the right side of the upper part of abdomen, together with tiredness and hepatomegaly Some laboratory analysis can be useful to assess if a person is affected or not by NAFLD, such as serum levels of aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase, γ -glutamyltransferase.

Aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase levels are often higher than normal in NAFLD patients, as well as that of alkaline phosphatase and γ glutamyltransferase, even if to a lesser extent with respect to ALD. Several other parameters are subjected to variations when in presence of NAFLD, such as elevated serum ferritin levels. Hypoalbuminemia, hyperbilirubinemia and a prolonged prothrombin time are often present when NAFLD is in the cirrhotic phase (Angulo P, 2002). Imaging techniques are employed as well in the diagnosis of NAFLD and may represent a valuable tool, with particular reference to ultrasonography, computed tomographic (CT) scanning, and magnetic resonance imaging and spectroscopy. Ultrasonography has been reported to have a very high sensitivity and specificity in identifying steatosis (above 90%), and fibrosis (above 85%) (Joseph AE et al., 1991). CT scanning and magnetic resonance imaging can be used in the assessment of fat infiltration inside the liver parenchyma, the first being eligible when steatosis is diffuse, which is the predominant condition in NAFLD, the second being more suitable when infrequently happens that steatosis has a focal pattern. Finally, magnetic resonance spectroscopy is commonly used to evaluate the amount of fat infiltrate inside the liver parenchyma (Angulo P, 2002).

From an histological point of view, the typical features observed after a liver biopsy, which characterise a liver as a NAFLD liver are steatosis, hepatocyte ballooning, glycogen nuclei, mixed inflammatory-cell infiltration, Mallory's hyaline, cell necrosis and fibrosis (Angulo P, 2002). The two following pictures below clearly illustrate some of the most typifying features of NAFLD. In Figure 12 [haematoxylin and eosin – 200X] is evident the presence of a macrovesicular steatosis, even if in some hepatocytes is possible to find both macro- and microvesicular one. The fat infiltrate may be found prevalently inside acinar zone 3 when the amount is not so abundant, but

increasing quantities of fat led to a more diffuse pattern of distribution. Hepatocyte ballooning is visible as well, consisting in a degeneration of the hepatocyte determined by an accumulation of intracellular fluid, which induces cell swelling that characteristically occurs in zone 3 close to steatotic hepatocytes. In this photo is also possible to see Mallory's hyaline bodies inside the hepatocytes undergoing ballooning degeneration in zone 3. These bodies are frequently (\approx 50%) observed in adult people affected by NAFLD but not specific, being present in ALD or other liver pathologic conditions as well. Clearly distinguishable is also the inflammatory infiltrate that usually consists of lymphocytes and neutrophils, and is localised in zone 3. It is interesting to underline that usually in adults the inflammatory infiltrate does not localise in portal tracts, whereas in children this is the typical pattern of infiltration. Furthermore in children Mallory's hyaline is usually very scarce or not present (Kleiner DE et al., 2005).



Figure 12 NAFLD: macrovesicular steatosis, inflammatory infiltrate, Mallory's hyaline and hepatocyte ballooning (from Angulo P, 2002).

Figure 13 [Masson's trichrome – 200X], illustrates a clear example of fibrotic liver, in which are evident the three typical patterns of fibrosis, i.e. perivenular, pericellular and perisinusoidal in zone 3. It is useful to highlight that in NAFLD as well as in ALD, collagen is put down initially in the pericellular space around the central vein and in

the perisinusoidal region inside the zone 3. Moreover in several regions it is possible to observe a typical pattern in collagen deposits, the so-called "chicken-wire" fibrosis. Together considered these features can be helpful to distinguish NAFLD- and ALD-induced fibrosis to a fibrosis provoked by other liver diseases, in which collagen deposition typically begins in the portal region (Angulo P et al., 2007).



Figure 13 NAFLD: perivenular, pericellular and perisinusoidal fibrosis in zone 3 (from Angulo P, 2002).

In 1999 Brunt EM and co-workers (Brunt EM et al., 1999), proposed a valuable classification of NAFLD, according to degree of severity and localisation of steatosis,

inflammation and fibrosis observed.

Grading for steatosis Grade $1 \rightarrow < 33\%$ of hepatocytes affected Grade $2 \rightarrow 33\%$ to 66% of hepatocytes affected Grade $3 \rightarrow >66\%$ of hepatocytes affected Grading for steatohepatitis *Grade 1*→mild -Steatosis: predominantly macrovesicular, involves up to 66% of lobules -Ballooning: occasionally observed; zone 3 hepatocytes -Lobular inflammation: scattered and mild acute inflammation (polymorphonuclear cells) and occasional chronic inflammation (mononuclear cells) -Portal inflammation: none or mild *Grade* $2 \rightarrow$ moderate -Steatosis: any degree; usually mixed macrovesicular and microvesicular -Ballooning: obvious and present in zone 3 -Lobular inflammation: polymorphonuclear cells may be noted in association with ballooned hepatocytes; pericellular fibrosis; mild chronic inflammation may be seen -Portal inflammation: mild to moderate *Grade 3*→severe -Steatosis: typically involves >66% of lobules (panacinar); commonly mixed steatosis -Ballooning: predominantly zone 3; marked -Lobular inflammation: scattered acute and chronic inflammation; polymorphonuclear cells may be concentrated in zone 3 areas of ballooning and perisinusoidal fibrosis 32

-Portal inflammation: mild to moderate **Staging for fibrosis** *Stage 1*→zone 3 perivenular, perisinusoidal, or pericellular fibrosis; focal or extensive *Stage 2*→as above, with focal or extensive periportal fibrosis *Stage 3*→bridging fibrosis, focal or extensive *Stage 4*→cirrhosis

3.2 Pathogenesis

The pathological mechanisms that induce the development of NAFLD are so far not completely clarified and still matter of debate, even if some key factors seem to be elucidated. One fundamental condition that has to be satisfied is a significant accumulation of lipids inside the hepatocyte, principally as triglycerides. Several theories have been proposed to date, but now most researchers believe that the first step required for onset of NAFLD is certainly insulin resistance, according to what hypothesised by Day CP and James OFW in 1998. Insulin resistance, in turn, would lead to fat accumulation, and hence to steatosis, probably inducing modifications in the uptake, synthesis, oxidation or export of lipids, as shown in the following figure (Angulo P, 2002).



Figure 14 NAFLD: fatty acid metabolism in a normal hepatocyte (from Angulo P, 2002).

Onset of insulin resistance is indeed a complex topic to deal with, even if until now some points have been clarified. Several molecules, as reported in figure 15, can block insulin action. Once induced an insulin resistance condition, two main events are thought to be responsible for progression to a steatotic state: hyperinsulinemia and increase in lipolysis at the adipocyte level. At the hepatocyte level, hyperinsulinemia leads to an enhancement of glycolytic pathway, resulting in an increased synthesis of fatty acids. Moreover, the concomitant decrease in apolipoprotein B-100 (ApoB-100) synthesis has the final effect to raise the triglycerides content inside the cell. Increased lipolysis at the adipose tissue level determines the increase of the haematic concentration of fatty acids, which in turn are up taken by the liver. Such excess of fatty acids induces two parallel effects: an overwork of mitochondrial β -oxidation that leads to accumulation of fatty acids themselves, and a stimulation of synthesis of cytochrome P-450 2E1 and 4A that in turn are able to trigger the production of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS), responsible for an extensive lipid peroxidation of cell membranes (Weltman MD et al., 1998; Leclercq IA et al., 2000).



Figure 15 NAFLD: metabolic pathways in an insulin resistant hepatocyte (from Angulo P, 2002).

Another aetiology that has been proposed for onset of NAFLD involves deregulations of fatty acids oxidation pathways at the hepatocyte level. As illustrated in figure 16, the increased amount of fatty acids present in the insulin-resistant hepatocyte may result in three principal outcomes. First of all microsomal ω -oxidation is increased, leading to production of dicarboxylic acids, which are supposed to be cytotoxic and are targeted to peroxisomal β -oxidation. Peroxisomal β -oxidation is thought to have an extremely important role in the pathogenesis of NAFLD, if considered that the absence of peroxisomal fatty acyl-CoA oxidase has been shown to be responsible for the induction of extensive microvesicular steatosis and steatohepatitis as well. Furthermore if this enzyme does not work, much of the acyl-CoA produced by peroxisomes is no further processed and acts as a PPAR- α ligand, hyperactivating it, and inducing as a consequence the up-regulation of PPAR- α -controlled genes, as those involved in mitochondrial, peroxisomal and microsomal enzyme systems (Fan CY et al., 1998). An additional gene that has been proved to be under PPAR-α influence and that can be found in liver from NAFLD patients is uncoupling protein-2 (UCP-2). Its part in NAFLD progression it is not well defined, but some authors have proposed a role in raising the susceptibility of the fatty hepatocyte to secondary hits, such as TNF- α or endotoxins (Chavin KD et al., 1999).



Figure 16 NAFLD: metabolic pathways in an insulin resistant hepatocyte, with particular reference to microsomal ω -oxidation and peroxisomal β -oxidation (from Angulo P, 2002).

According to what discovered until now, the progression from simple steatosis to steatohepatitis and eventually cirrhosis and fibrosis is largely due to raised intrahepatic level of reactive oxygen species (ROS), produced at the mitochondrial level as a consequence of the surplus of fatty acids. ROS in turn are able to trigger at least three different processes: lipid peroxidation, cytokine induction and Fas ligand (FasL) expression. The two main products derived from lipid peroxidation are malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE) that cause several deleterious effects at the cellular level. Primarily they can induce cell death and are as well thought to be responsible for the formation of Mallory's hyaline, through protein cross linking (Zatloukal K et al., 1991). Secondarily, it has been shown that they are able to promote collagen deposition by activating hepatic stellate cells (HSC) (Leonarduzzi G et al., 1997). Thirdly, HNE behaves as a proinflammatory agent, showing a chemotactic action towards neutrophils (Curzio M, 1985).
For what concerns cytokine induction, there are several evidences reporting that ROS have a role in promoting the formation of TNF- α , TGF- β , and interleukin-8 (IL-8). TNF- α and TGF- β make caspase to be activated (Higuchi M et al., 1997; Inayat-Hussain SH et al., 1997), whereas TGF- β alone works as a cofactor, together with MDA and HNE, in the process of building up Mallory's hyaline, doing so by stimulating collagen production by HSC (Leonarduzzi G et al., 1997) and activating tissue transglutaminase, which cause cytoskeletal proteins to cross-link (Angulo P, 2002). Finally IL-8 is well known as a powerful chemoattractant molecule for neutrophils (Yoshimura T et al., 1987).

Several cooperating factors have been shown to trigger FasL expression at the hepatocyte level, which together led to an important increase in ROS concentration, by means of a sort of positive feedback. Two aspects need to be noticed: first, ROS-induced TNF- α inhibits action of respiratory chain at the mitochondrial level (Lancaster JR Jr et al., 1989), second, ROS reduce the antioxidant pool inside the hepatocyte, in this way causing more ROS to be produced (Sastre J et al., 1989). All these ROS has as a consequence the expression of FasL (Hug H et al., 1997), which can interact with Fas molecule present in the neighbouring hepatocytes, with the effect of a diffuse cell death.

Mitochondria seem to play a central role in the pathogenesis of NAFLD, if considered that in non-affected population and in the vast majority of patients with simple steatosis, this organelle show no significant abnormalities, but ultrastructural injuries, as linear crystalline inclusions inside megamitochondria, can be evidenced in patients with steatohepatitis (Sanyal AJ et al., 2001). Additionally, patients with steatohepatitis show alterations in liver ATP homeostasis, characterised by slowed rates of ATP synthesis, resulting in a severe ATP depletion (Cortez-Pinto H et al., 1999). As

explained in the previous paragraph this effect can be induced by an increased oxidative as well as inflammatory stress.



Figure 17 NAFLD: metabolic pathways in a steatotic hepatocyte (from Angulo P, 2002).

It is thus possible to state, according to Day CP and James OFW (Day CP, James OFW, 1998), that NAFLD pathogenesis can be described as a two-steps or "two-hits" process, the first being represented by onset of insulin resistance, which induces fat overload at the hepatic level. Secondarily, the oxidative stress generated by excess of lipids is able to trigger a series of linked events as lipid peroxidation, cytokine and FasL induction, which together can cooperate to induce steatohepatitis and finally fibrosis.

3.3 Insights on Insulin Resistance (IR)

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) can certainly be considered one of the principal metabolic diseases in the modern age. It has been estimated that actually more that 140 million people are affected worldwide and that this number is expected to double by 2025 (Zimmet P et al., 2001). As an outstanding example, it is useful to consider that in USA, some estimates report a probable number of 16 million affected subjects, with about 54000 deaths/year due to diabetes-related causes (Narayan KM et al., 2003).

Actually scientists and physicians agree on the assumption that DM can be better described classifying it in two major categories: Type I DM, in which pancreatic β cells are destroyed due to an autoimmune reaction, and Type II DM, which is thought to be provoked by a peripheral resistance to insulin action, together with an insufficient secretion by pancreatic β -cells, the so-called "relative insulin deficiency". From an epidemiological point of view, Type I DM accounts for approximately 10% of all patients, whereas the remaining part should be included in Type II DM. A small number of cases, about 5%, is due to other causes, as for example, some monogenic forms such as Maturity-Onset Diabetes of the Young (MODY), Mitochondrial Diabetes, or several forms provoked by insulin gene or insulin receptor mutations. In addition other possible causes should be mentioned, such as exocrine pancreas defects, some endocrinopathies, such as Cushing syndrome, infections with cytomegalovirus and Coxsackie virus B, and several drugs (Report of the Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus, 2002).

3.3.1 Insulin action: normal and pathological

In normal, non-affected people, insulin plays an essential role in the process of maintenance and regulation of glucose homeostasis, together with its companion hormone, glucagon, through the well-known mechanism.

At the level of β cells of the pancreatic islets, insulin is synthesized as preproinsulin in the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER), and directed to Golgi apparatus, where the mature insulin is produced and stored in secretory granules, together with C-peptide. When the haematic levels of glucose rise as a consequence of a meal, pancreatic β cells uptake glucose itself through GLUT-2 transporter. Glucose catabolism inside the cells leads to increased production of ATP that results in higher values of the cytoplasmic ATP/ADP ratio, which in turn are able to inhibit the ATP-sensitive K⁺channel present on plasma membrane, with depolarisation and Ca²⁺ influx through voltage-dependent channels. Higher [Ca²⁺] induces insulin release from β cells granules, the so-called immediate release of insulin. When the stimulus continues to be present, the β cell begins to actively synthesise insulin, and this kind of response is usually prolonged in time.

As mentioned before, insulin is fundamentally a hormone that exerts anabolic functions, being responsible for augmenting the uptake of glucose at the level of adipose tissue, striated and myocardial muscle, and liver.

Figure 18 summarises the physiological effects of insulin in the three aforementioned organs, in a normal condition, in fed and fasting states, and when Type II DM is present. When the system works properly, insulin secretion is stimulated after a carbohydrate (CHO in the figure) intake, as discussed before. At the level of skeletal muscle, glucose uptake is increased as well as glycogen synthesis, similarly to what happens in the liver, where glycogen synthesis and *de novo* lipogenesis are stimulated, whereas gluconeogenesis is inhibited. Lipogenesis is stimulated in white adipose tissue (WAT) as well, together with a down regulation of lipolysis. The primary event leading to insulin resistance and Type II DM development seems to be the ectopic intramyocellular lipid (IMCL) accumulation, which results in a blockage of glucose

uptake and glycogen synthesis. Secondarily, the excess of glucose present in the bloodstream after a meal is then directed to the liver, where contributes to increase intrahepatic triglycerides content, promoting a steatotic condition. Moreover, in the fasted state lipolysis is largely stimulated in WAT, and the surplus of circulating fatty acids is re-esterified in the liver, further contributing to augment steatosis (Samuel VT, Shulman GI, 2012).



Figure 18 IR: schematic representation of insulin effect in normal and T2DM conditions (from Samuel VT, Shulman GI, 2012).

3.3.2 Insulin resistance

Onset of insulin resistance is certainly one of the most intriguing and challenging topics to deal with in cellular and molecular biology, considering that many cellular processes involved have been identified until now, but that many others remain obscure so far. At least two aspects seem to play a central role in contributing to insulin resistance development: ectopic lipid accumulation at skeletal muscle and liver level, as mentioned before, and the Unfolded Protein Response (UPR) or endoplasmic reticulum stress, whereas not completely clarified is which part inflammation has in the overall process.

For what concerns lipid accumulation, it is now completely defined that in both skeletal muscle and liver, this is the first step that is able to trigger insulin resistance. The mechanism proposed is quite similar in both tissues, as depicted in the next two pictures, representing skeletal muscle and liver respectively (Samuel VT et al., 2010).



Figure 19 IR: schematic representation of signaling and metabolic pathways involved in onset of IR in skeletal muscle (from Samuel VT, Shulman GI, 2012).

In skeletal muscle, insulin binding to its own receptor (IR) present in the plasma membrane leads to activation of its tyrosine kinase activity, which result in phosphorylation of Insulin Receptor Substrate proteins 1 and 2 (IRS1/2). This event in turn is able to activate Akt2 by several steps that will be analysed deeper in the next paragraph. Activated Akt2 determines the translocation of GLUT4-containing storage vesicles (GSVs) to the plasma membrane and activation of glycogen synthase (GS). Several distinct but as well as overlapping biochemical deregulations can perturb this pathway. First of all, it has been shown that lipid accumulation is able to induce an increase in diacylglycerol (DAG) content, which is a well-known activator of protein kinase. Indeed, now PKC family has been sub classified in three distinct groups: conventional

PKCs (cPKC: α , β I, β II, γ) that need both DAG and Ca²⁺ to be activated, novel PKCs (nPKC: δ , ε , η , θ) for which only DAG is required, and atypical PKCs (aPKC: ζ , λ) that are not dependent on DAG and/or Ca^{2+} . It has been demonstrated that in skeletal muscle raised levels of DAG lead to PKC0 activation, which in turn phosphorylates IRS-1 on Ser¹¹⁰¹, resulting in an inhibition of insulin signaling due to an impairment of the physiological Tyr phosphorylation (Li Y et al., 2004). Interestingly, a role in insulin resistance onset has been proposed for ceramides, which would be able to inhibit Akt2 activation by means of two different mechanisms. First, by activating protein phosphatase 2A (PPA2), which directly dephosphorylate Akt2, second by blocking the dissociation of the complex PKCζ•Akt2, in this way impairing Akt2 functionality (Teruel T et al., 2001; Powell DJ et al., 2003). A part in this movie has been suggested for inflammatory response as well, with particular attention to $TNF\alpha$ signaling. In fact, it has been shown that in obese subjects adipose tissue macrophages [ATMs] release TNF α , which in turn, through jun-N-terminal kinase 1 (JNK1) activation may block insulin signaling by phosphorylation of IRS1 at Ser³⁰⁷ residue (Hotamisligil GS et al., 1996; Aguirre V et al., 2002). For what concerns the function of UPR in the onset of insulin resistance, it has been assessed that an activation of this pathway may lead to an impairment of insulin signaling, even if a clear association between these two aspects has not been found yet. In mice it has been observed that a high-fat diet is able to induce the UPR, but the same has not been found in humans. Interestingly, a possible involvement of UPR in the response of skeletal muscle to exercise has recently been reported, through activation of Peroxisome proliferator Gamma Coactivator 1α (PGC- 1α) and ATF 6α , but how this process could be linked to insulin sensitivity remains unclear (Samuel VT, Shulman GI, 2012).



Figure 20 IR: schematic representation of signaling and metabolic pathways involved in onset of IR in the liver (from Samuel VT, Shulman GI, 2012).

Many aspects just described for skeletal muscle are quite similar in the liver as well, even if some differences exist. First of all, different PKCs, through slight dissimilar mechanisms, have been found to contribute to the development of insulin resistance, with respect to skeletal muscle. PKC ε is usually found strictly associated with the IR in rats, and an activation of this kinase due to increased levels of DAG is supposed to lead to an impairment of IR activity. PKC δ has been reported as well to have a role in rat liver, and evidences collected until now permit to conclude that probably this kinase may be activated in two distinct ways: the first one classically by DAG, the second one being able to respond to the proinflammatory milieu that can arise as a consequence of a continuative hyperlipidemia, probably through IL6R or IKK- β . Similarly to what described in the skeletal muscle, ceramides induces the activation of PP2A, which in turn dephosphorylates Akt2, impairing its functionality. Moreover ceramides are able to block the dissociation of the complex PKCζ•Akt2 that normally occurs after insulin stimulation, again impeding Akt2 effects (Teruel T et al., 2001; Powell DJ et al., 2003).

About the role played by UPR, most aspects resemble those observed in skeletal muscle, with only minor differences. On this regard, it is interesting to underline the role of transcription factor XBP1 (X-box Binding Protein 1), which is thought to exert a deleterious part in the onset of insulin resistance, increasing levels of intracellular DAG in this way stimulating PKCɛ activation (Jurczak MJ et al., 2012).

3.4 mTOR: Structure and Functions

The presence of efficient systems able to regulate and organise all the complex pathways involved in metabolic processes is indeed essential for every living organism. At the apex of the evolutionary tree, Mammals have developed several devices to cope with this matter, and one of most intensively studied in the last years as well as in the present days, is certainly the pathway activated by the protein kinase mammalian target of rapamycin or mTOR. So far several pathological conditions in humans have been shown to be induced by the non proper functioning of mTOR, including tumours, neurodegenerative processes, obesity and type II diabetes. For this reasons, many research groups worldwide are actually studying this topic, trying to find pharmacological approaches useful from a therapeutic point of view (Samuel VT, Shulman GI, 2012).

3.4.1 Structure

mTOR was originally discovered due to its inhibition operated by rapamycin, also named sirolimus, a macrolide synthesised by *Streptomyces Hygroscopicus* bacteria

that owns a typical antiproliferative action. Two studies published in 1993, for the first time identified two possible genes mediators of the cytotoxic effect of rapamycin in *S. cerevisiae*, named TOR1 and TOR2 (Cafferkey R et al., 1993; Kunz J et al., 1993). Biochemical approaches led rapidly to the characterisation of mTOR, of the 12-kDa FK506-binding protein (FKBP12) that is able to bind to rapamycin (Brown EJ et al., 1994; Sabatini DM et al., 1994; Sabers CJ et al., 1995) and also to the discover of the binding site for the complex rapamycin•FKBP12 (Chen J et al., 1995).

From a biochemical point of view, mTOR can be classified as an atypical Ser/Thr protein kinase, included in the broad family of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)related kinase. Usually it interacts with different proteins, which confer to mTOR peculiar characteristics that define its physiological functions. Depending on which proteins mTOR associates with, it forms two different complexes with different roles and sensitivity to rapamycin, termed mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) and mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2). These two complexes are quite large, and so far six proteins have been discovered for mTORC1 and seven for mTORC2, in addition to the common catalytic subunit mTOR. Excluding mTOR, four components are shared by the two complexes, termed: mammalian lethal with sec-13 protein 8 (mLST8 or G β L), DEP domain containing mTOR-interacting protein (DEPTOR) and the Tti1/Tel2 complex. Specific proteins characterise the two assemblies, i.e. regulatory-associated protein of mTOR (raptor) and proline-rich Akt substrate 40 kDa (PRAS40) for mTORC1, and rapamycin-insensitive companion of mTOR (rictor), mammalian-stress activated map kinase-interacting protein (mSin1) and protein observed with rictor 1 and 2 (protor1/2) for mTORC2. The two aforementioned complexes greatly differ for the sensitivity to rapamycin, mTORC1 being strongly inhibited by acute treatment, differently to mTORC2, which seems to be targeted only by chronic exposures that probably disassembly its structure. The biochemical and structural basis for this effect are until now not completely clear, even if it has been proposed a destabilising action on the complex as well as an allosteric inhibition of the kinase domain (Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2012).



Figure 21 mTOR: schematic representation of mTORC1 and mTORC2 complexes (from Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2012).

3.4.2 mTORC1 & mTORC2: upstream

From what depicted in Figure 21, it is clearly understandable that at the present time there is more information about mTORC1 with respect mTORC2, even though now many efforts are concentrated on mTORC2.

Several factors connected to energetic status of the cell have been shown to be responsible for the activation of mTORC1, i.e. oxygen, amino acids, energy levels as well as growth factors, having as outcome the control of some of the most important cellular processes, as macromolecule biosynthesis, for instance lipid and proteins, cell cycle progression, autophagy, cell growth and metabolism.

For what concerns mTORC2, it is known that it is activated by growth factors, and that it regulates cell survival, metabolism and cytoskeletal organisation.



Figure 22 mTOR: schematic representation of signaling and metabolic pathways regulated by mTORC1 and mTORC2 complexes (from Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2012).

Figure 22 summarises the state of art of what is known about mTORC1- and mTORC2-activated signaling pathways and the principal processes regulated by these two complexes.

A central role in the regulation of mTORC1 activity is undoubtedly played by TSC1/2 complex, an heterodimer of two distinct subunits, termed TSC1 (Tuberous SClerosis 1 or hamartin) and TSC2 (Tuberous SClerosis 2 or tuberin). TSC1/2 owns a GTPaseactivating protein (GAP) activity, and it is able to inactivate Rheb (Ras homolog enriched in brain) GTPase favouring the formation of the GDP-bound form, in this way permitting a negative regulation of the mTORC1 activation. On TSC1/2 converge almost all the external stimuli that activate or inhibit activity of mTORC1, with the important exception of amino acids, which seem to act in a TSC1/2-independent manner. Among the best characterised pathways that can induce mTORC1 regulation through TSC1/2 at least five should be mentioned: growth factors, proinflammatory cytokines, Wnt pathway, together with hypoxia and DNA damage. Growth factors, insulin and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) being paradigmatic, classically activate Ras and PI3K signaling, resulting in the activation of extracellular-signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2), protein kinase B (Akt/PKB), and ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK1), which inactivate the TSC1/2 complex by phosphorylation, inducing as a consequence mTORC1 activation (Inoki K et al., 2002; Ma L et al., 2005). Interestingly Akt has been shown to activate mTORC1 directly, phosphorylating and inducing the dissociation of the PRAS40 inhibitory subunit from the complex (Vander Haar E et al., 2007). Proinflammatory cytokines, as for example TNFα, similarly stimulate mTORC1 by inactivation of TSC1/2, mediated by IKK^β phosphorylation of TSC1 (Lee DF et al., 2007). Wnt pathway, on the other hand, operates through inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3- β), which usually phosphorylates TSC2,

promoting the activity of the complex (Inoki K et al., 2006). As mentioned above, cellular stresses as hypoxia and DNA damage can affect mTORC1 functionality. Hypoxia and energy deficit inside the cell are sensed by adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK), which in turn is capable of phosphorylating TSC2, inhibiting mTORC1, or similarly to Akt, can directly phosphorylate raptor subunit, inducing an allosteric inhibition of mTORC1. An emerging role in this picture is being assessed for transcriptional regulation of DNA damage response 1 (REDD1), which has been demonstrated to be able to stimulate TSC2 after activation by hypoxia, as well as by p53. p53 is also essential in the response to DNA damage, considering that a p53-dependent transcription mechanism induces the expression of Tsc2 and phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10 (Pten) genes, with the resulting overall down regulation of the signaling pathway (Feng Z et al., 2005).

For what concerns the mechanism by which amino acids are able to activate mTORC1, several progresses have been made, even if the overall process is still very far to be completely clarified. At present it seems clear that all amino acids, but especially leucine and arginine, are necessary to activate mTORC1, even in presence of other stimuli, as growth factors, and that the mechanism is TSC1/2-independent. Recently a model has been proposed that involves Rag GTPases as the principal mediators of regulation of mTORC1 activity by amino acids. In Mammals exists four types of Rag proteins, RagA to RagD, which associate obligatory to form RagA/B and RagC/D heterodimers, with opposite nucleotide binding properties, that means that when one heterodimer is bound to GTP the other one is bound to GDP. In this context, amino acids stimulate RagA/B binding to GTP, permitting the interaction with raptor that determines the translocation of mTORC1 to the lysosomal surface, where Rag GTPase interacts with a multisubunit complex called Ragulator, necessary for mTORC1

activation (Sancak Y et al., 2008; Sancak Y et al., 2010). Once on the lysosomal surface, mTORC1 is probably activated thanks to the action of Rheb GTPase, even though more investigations need to verify this hypothesis (Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2012). Interestingly, a recent paper suggests that amino acids, by accumulating inside the lysosomal lumen should be able to activate vacuolar H⁺-adenosine triphosphate ATPase (v-ATPase), which in an unknown way would activate Ragulator and Rag GTPase (Zoncu R et al., 2011).

Less is known about mTORC2 activation if compared to mTORC1, even if some recent papers are shedding some light on this topic. First of all, about the effect of rapamycin, mTORC2 differently to mTORC1 is not affected by an acute treatment (Jacinto E et al., 2004), even if the situation is probably more complex, considering that it has been shown that in many cell types a prolonged treatment with rapamycin can interfere in an unknown way with mTORC2 assembly (Sarbassov DD et al., 2006). For what concerns mTORC2 activation, the mechanism remains at the present day quite obscure, being insensitive to stimulation by nutrients but responsive to growth factors such as insulin. A possible way of activation has been recently proposed, which recognises a direct role of ribosomes that seem to be able to directly activate mTORC2, after that insulin, through a PI3K signaling, promotes mTORC2 association with ribosomes themselves (Zinzalla V et al., 2011).

3.4.3 mTORC1 & mTORC2: downstream

Several essential cellular processes have been shown to be under the direct control of mTORC1, such as protein and lipid synthesis, energy metabolism, autophagy and lysosome biogenesis.

According to what has been discovered so far, protein synthesis is regulated by mTORC1 essentially by phosphorylation of two key proteins, i.e. the S6 kinase 1

(S6K1) and the translational regulators eukaryotic translational initiation factor 4E (elF4E)-binding protein 1 (4E-BP1). Phosphorylation of S6K1 leads to its activation, which finally results thanks to a series of effectors, in an increase of mRNA biogenesis, and translational initiation and elongation. Differently phosphorylation of 4E-BP1 has the result to block its binding to the cap-binding protein elF4E, favouring on the other that to elF4F, inducing in this way the formation of the complex necessary for the initiation of cap-dependent translation. Two additional factors play a role in this process: the regulatory element tripartite motif-containing protein-24 (TIF-1A), which upon activation by mTORC1 interacts with RNA Polymerase I (Pol I), stimulating ribosomal RNA (rRNA) transcription, and the Pol III repressor Maf1, which is inhibited by phosphorylation, allowing the transcription of 5S rRNA and transfer RNA (tRNA) (Ma XM, Blenis J, 2009; Kantidakis T et al., 2010).

The main way by which mTORC1 controls lipid biosynthesis is by inducing the expression and increasing the activity of PPAR γ , the well-known central regulator of lipogenic genes. Importantly, several recent papers have pointed out that mTORC1 can regulate sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1/2 (SREBP1/2) activity, positively affecting its functions in an until now not well established way, even if a role for Lipin-1 has recently been proposed (Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2009; Peterson TR et al., 2011).

For what concern energetic metabolism, is now well established that mTORC1 is able to positively affect transcription and translation of hypoxia inducible factor 1α (HIF1 α), which positively regulates many genes involved in the glycolytic pathway. Several evidences demonstrate a positive role played by mTORC1 on oxidative metabolism as well, being able to augment mitochondrial DNA content and the expression of the genes of oxidative metabolism, presumably by favouring the

association inside the nucleus of PPAR γ Coactivator 1 α (PGC1 α) and the transcription factor Ying-Yang 1 (YY1) (Düvel K et al., 2010).

Anabolic processes and cell growth are also stimulated by mTORC1 indirectly, through a negative regulation of autophagy and lysosome biogenesis. The first task is achieved in Mammals by means of the direct phosphorylation of the kinase complex ULK/Atg13/FIP200 (unc-51-like kinase 1/mammalian autophagy-related gene 13/focal adhesion kinase family-interacting protein of 200 kDa), whose activity is requested to start the autophagy process (Hosokawa N et al., 2009), and through the inhibition of the suppressor of autophagy DAP1(death-associated protein 1) (Koren I et al., 2010). Likewise mTORC1 inhibits lysosome biogenesis by phosphorylating the transcription factor EB (TFEB), in this way blocking its entry inside the nucleus and impeding the transcription of many genes that play essential roles for the proper functioning of these organelles (Settembre C et al., 2012).

Two main pathways downstream mTORC2 have been identified to date, both ones involving chains of phosphorylation events, but leading to different outcomes. The most characterised pathways are those involving Akt and serum- and glucocorticoid-induced protein kinase 1 (SGK1). mTORC2 directly phosphorylate Akt on the critical Ser473 residue, resulting in its full activation (Sarbassov DD et al., 2005), which affects several essential cellular processes, such as metabolism, growth and proliferation, survival and apoptosis, at level of many tissues, as will explained in greater detail in the next paragraph. Anyhow it is possible to say that when mTORC2 is defective, the consequent lack of Akt functionality results in impaired phosphorylation of several key Akt targets, such as forkhead box O1/3A (FoxO1/3A). Another important kinase under the direct influence of mTORC2 is SGK1, which modulates cell growth and ion transport, and that is able as well to phosphorylate

FoxO1/3A on the same residues phosphorylated by Akt, thus introducing an interesting double check on FoxO1/3A activity (Garcia-Martinez JM, Alessi DR, 2008). Finally it is important to underline the role played by mTORC2 in the activation of PKC- α that together with paxillin and Rho and Rac GTPases plays a relevant role in the actin cytoskeleton organisation and dynamics (Jacinto E et al., 2004).

3.4.4 mTORC1 & mTORC2: metabolic functions and tissue-specific roles

Both mTORC1 and mTORC2 complexes have been shown to exert fundamental functions in the regulation of key metabolic processes, in at least four organs, i.e. white adipose tissue (WAT), muscle, pancreas (β -cells) and liver. Moreover, recent researches have assessed a new, important role in the regulation of energy balance at the hypothalamus level (Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2012).



Figure 23 mTOR: schematic representation of signaling and metabolic pathways regulated by mTORC1 and mTORC2 complexes in hypothalamus, adipose tissue, muscle, liver and pancreas (from Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2012).

The hypothalamus has been subjected to extensive research efforts, in the attempt to find potential pathways involved in the onset of obesity and metabolic unbalances, considering that this area of the brain is of pivotal importance in the processes of integration of signals brought by nutrient molecules present in the bloodstream, such as lipids, amino acids and proteins, and by hormones such as insulin and leptin (Schwartz MW, Porte Jr D, 2005). One specific area of hypothalamus, the arcuate nucleus (ARC), has been shown to be particularly important in this context, and to express mTORC1, whose activation induced by leucine or leptin is able to reduce food intake, with a mechanism that probably through S6K1 activation, leads to a reduced expression of neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti-related peptide (AgRP). In pathogenic conditions, such as nutrients overload and obesity, mTORC1 is no more activated by leptin, inducing a condition of hyperphagia, opening the mind to speculations about the possible existence of genetic predispositions eventually responsible for an altered control of food intake (Cota D, 2009).

At WAT level, mTORC1 plays a key role in the regulation of adipogenesis, as demonstrated by the observation that when inactivated, this process is completely blocked, and when overactive adipogenesis is strongly activated (Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2009). Two proteins under mTORC1 control are central in the development of adipose tissue, S6K1 that direct the step from embryonic stem cells to adipogenic progenitors through the regulation of early adipogenic transcription factors, and 4E-BPs under whose translational control is PPARy, which determines the terminal differentiation process (Carnevalli LS et al., 2010). The obesity condition is usually associated with high circulating levels of nutrients, insulin and proinflammatory cytokines, which are able to stimulate mTORC1 activity, with the final result of further increasing adipose mass, and also contributing to insulin resistance onset, through an S6K1-mediated block of insulin signaling (Um SH et al., 2004). An increased activation of mTORC1 can also result in a high rate of protein synthesis that can lead to an augmented ER stress and UPR, processes known to be able to trigger or exacerbate an insulin resistance condition (Ozcan U et al., 2008; Hotamisligil GS, 2010). Interestingly, mTORC2 as well seems to give a positive contribution to the correct metabolic homeostasis of WAT and to maintain the proper lipid profile, as demonstrated by the fact that mTORC2 adipose-specific ablation results in a regular adipose tissue mass, but the lack of Akt activity leads to an increased lipolysis and to a consequent augment of free fatty acids (FFA) in the bloodstream (Kumar A et al., 2010).

For what concerns muscle, an interesting recent topic is that concerning the relationship between exercise and thus mechanical contraction, and mTORC1. In fact, in an unknown way, these kind of mechanical stimuli result in mTORC1 activation, with a consequent increase of protein synthesis, which finally results in muscle hypertrophy (Philp A et al., 2011). It has been also shown that mTORC1 is involved in the increase of oxidative metabolism by inducing the expression of PGC1- α , and that the normal feedback loop that regulate IRS1 activity is strongly reduced in the absence of mTORC1, which results in an enhanced Akt activation and glycogen accumulation. Similarly, elevated levels of mTORC1 activation, induced by high fat feeding and obesity, are able to inhibit insulin signaling in a S6K1-dependent manner, with the final result of a reduced glucose uptake, contributing to systemic insulin resistance (Um SH et al., 2004). Paradoxically, when mTORC1 is activated as a consequence of obesity the effect on muscle mass is deleterious, and a reduction is observed, probably mediated by an increased expression of ubiquitin ligases by FoxO1 (Wang X et al., 2006). Moreover, high-fat diet, obesity and type 2 diabetes, conditions that usually results in high levels of mTORC1 activation, have as a typical outcome an impaired mitochondrial biogenesis and functionality (Sparks LM et al., 2005). A possible explanation for this apparent contradiction is that probably other signaling pathways, different from those regulated by mTORC1 control these processes (Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2012). mTORC2 seems to have no effect on muscle mass, but an inhibition results in a diminution of glucose uptake and therefore in a mild systemic glucose intolerance (Kumar A et al., 2008).

Both mTORC1 and mTORC2 play critical roles in maintaining the proper functionality of pancreatic β -cells, in this way being essential to regulate insulin secretion and hence guaranteeing all metabolic profile. For what concerns mTORC1, it has been assessed that when constitutively active it is able to increase β -cells size and number and to decrease concentration of blood glucose and insulin, resulting in an improved glucose tolerance, probably through an S6K1-mediated mechanism. Interestingly mTORC1 is involved as well in the so called β -cells compensation process, usually observed in conditions of high-fat diet or obesity. In such pathological states, nutrient excess and peripheral insulin resistance represent stimuli to pancreas to produce more insulin, which results in a raised formation of new β -cells from progenitors, together with proliferation and hypertrophy of pre-existing ones, with the final consequence being represented by an elevation of insulin synthesis and release. This adaptation on long time spans has anyway deleterious consequences, from two different point of view: first, β -cells cannot sustain such a proliferative and productive stress consequently resulting in the development of type 2 diabetes, and second a prolonged activation of mTORC1/S6K1 signaling leads to a feedback inhibition of IRS1 and IRS2, and hence to a decline of insulin responsiveness in islets, which has also been observed to be associated to decrease in cell vitality and increased apoptosis (Shigeyama Y et al., 2008). Recently mTORC2 has been found to have a role in this story, as shown in rictor null mice that exhibit reduction in β -cell mass, β -cell proliferation, pancreatic insulin content, and glucose-stimulated insulin secretion, which result in mild hyperglycaemia and glucose intolerance. These changes have been associated to a decrease in Akt phosphorylation at Ser473 and increased abundance of FoxO1 (Gu Y et al., 2011).

In the liver several key metabolic pathways are controlled by mTORC1 ad mTORC2, being of essential importance in the normal homeostasis of this organ, but as well involved in the onset of several hepatic pathological condition, such as for example nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). As described above for muscle and adipose tissue, in a normal physiological state mTORC1 activation stimulates lipogenesis through a SREBP1c-mediated mechanism in a still unknown way, and inhibits ketogenesis by inducing nuclear accumulation of nuclear receptor corepressor 1 (NCoR1), which in turn blocks the activity of PPAR- α (Yecies JL et al., 2011; Sengupta S et al., 2010). On the other hand, in a condition of nutrient overload and obesity, mTORC1/S6K1 activity is increased, which results in an inhibition of IRS1 activity with the consequent development of insulin resistance (Tremblay F et al., 2007). Interestingly, the high rates of activation of mTORC1 due the elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines and nutrients typically found in insulin resistant conditions could explain why lipogenesis remains very active aggravating further the pathological profile (Peterson TR et al., 2011). For what concerns the role played by mTORC2, several evidences suggest that a blockage of PI3K/Akt signaling results in an increased gluconeogenesis, contributing to hyperglycaemia and to onset of hyperinsulinemia. In addition, a recent paper shed some light on these topics recognising the essential role of mTORC2 in driving lipogenesis independently to Akt2 activation, whereas gluconeogenesis seems to be mTORC2-independent (Yuan M et al., 2012).

3.5.1 Role of Fructose in NAFLD

In the last years many researchers and clinicians focused their attention on the role played by fructose in metabolic diseases, such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome, as well as in liver specific pathologies, one of the most extensively studied being certainly Non Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD). This huge debate about the role of fructose probably raised as a consequence of the recent increased diffusion of sweetened foods and beverages, such as cereal and chocolate bars or drinks such as regular sodas, energy and sport drinks. These aliments are typically produced using High Fructose Corn Syrup (HFCS), which is a sweetener obtained by corn starch to yield glucose, and then by processing glucose to have a syrup containing variable percentage of fructose, the most common used being the so called HFCS55, that means 55% fructose-45% glucose, about the ratio found in sucrose (White JS, 2008). From a strictly biochemical point of view, fructose is theoretically capable of having some adverse effect, especially for what concerns triglyceride levels, considering its peculiar hepatic metabolism, which is prone to induce the formation of VLDL-triglyceride (Henry RR, Crapo PA, 1991). However, no evidences have been collected so far showing that fructose could have harmful effects in healthy subjects consuming an isocaloric, balanced diet, which also include fructose. Data obtained from epidemiological studies seem to assess a role of fructose-containing beverages in increasing body weight and obesity, but considering that these beverages are often associated with other sort of junk, high-fat foods, such as processed meats and fried potatoes, in a context of an elevated total energy intake, scarce consumption of fresh vegetables and fruits and physical activity, it is difficult to determine the real contribution fructose in these observations (Mozaffarian D et al., 2011). Indeed, another recent study demonstrated that fructose was able to induce an increase in body weight only when associated with a hypercaloric diet, not when in the context of an isocaloric, balanced diet (Sievenpiper JL et al., 2012 [b]). This perspective is further confirmed by a paper that collects many evidences showing no effects of fructose on body weight and plasma triglycerides levels when consumed in amounts typically associated with a normal isocaloric Western diet, in both healthy, normal weight individuals as well as in overweight, obese people (Dolan LC et al., 2010 [a]; Dolan LC et al., 2010 [b]). Several clinical studies seem to confirm these epidemiological observations, revealing that fructose can be considered seriously harmful only when consumed at very high doses, and particularly in overweight or obese subjects. In particular, it has been reported that fructose overconsumption was able to alter lipid metabolism, inducing dyslipidemia and increase in blood glucose, without affecting insulin sensitivity, in the case of a moderate overfeeding (Lê KA et al., 2006). Employing higher fructose concentrations for a longer period coupled to a hypercaloric diet, slightly different but still coherent results were obtained, with a moderate augment of circulating triglycerides and ectopic fat deposition, together with a decrease in hepatic insulin sensitivity. These values were significantly higher in healthy offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes, a subgroup of individuals prone to develop metabolic disorders (Lê KA et al., 2009). Moreover, when compared to glucose overfeeding in a context of a hypercaloric diet in healthy males, fructose overfeeding resulted in comparable or lighter effects in all the metabolic parameters taken in account (Ngo Sock ET et al., 2010). Shifting attention to the liver, it seems likely that the augmented hepatic fat deposition observed during fructose overload trials might be explainable admitting a stimulation of de-novo lipogenesis, together with an inhibition of lipid oxidation (Lê KA et al., 2009). Interestingly, in rodent studies it has been shown that fructose was responsible for an increased hepatic inflammation, in this way favouring the transition from a steatotic condition to steatohepatitis. In fact, in mice it has been demonstrated that a high-fructose diet was able to induce a TNFa-mediated steatosis and insulin resistance, together with an increased neutrophil infiltration, suggesting that fructose may be involved in the onset of steatohepatitis as a proinflammatory agent (Kanuri G et al., 2011). Similarly it has been shown that a high fat coupled to a high fructose diet determined an increased hepatic ROS production and a NASH-like phenotype with significant fibrosis (Abdelmalek MF et al., 2010). The mechanism of fibrosis may involve an increased hepatic oxidative stress associated with hepatic macrophage aggregation, which in turn induces a TGF_β1-signaled collagen deposition and histologically evident hepatic fibrosis (Kohli R et al., 2010). Hence it seems probable that fructose, when consumed in excess, might have a proinflammatory effect at the hepatocyte level that, if associated with the other typical risk factors such as calories surplus coupled with high prevalence of fats in the diet and scarce physical activity, may constitute an additional stimulus to progression to NASH. Interestingly, a recent study carried out in mice suggested that a chronic intake of high doses of fructose was able to induce a huge bacterial overgrowth at the intestine level, that together with an increased permeability, finally resulted in an endotoxin-dependent activation of hepatic Kupffer cells, which can contribute to the onset of hepatic insulin resistance through a TNFa-mediated mechanism (Spruss A et al., 2009).



Figure 24 Fructose & NAFLD: schematic representation of the possible role played by fructose in the induction of NAFLD (from Spruss A, Bergheim I, 2009).

Finally it is useful to underline that until now there are no convincing evidences supporting the idea that fructose could in some way weaken the control of food intake, inducing a hyperphagic feeding behaviour (Soenen S et al., 2007; Moran TH, 2009). Anyhow, a recent research pointed out that carbohydrates in liquid form, such as those found in sugar- or HFCS-sweetened beverages, produced less satiety if compared with solid carbohydrates, leading to an increase in total long-term energy intake (Pan A, Hu FB, 2011).

AIM OF THE WORK

Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) is nowadays considered one of the most diffused pathologic conditions affecting the liver especially in western world, where recent reports suggest that about 15% to 20% of the population could be affected, with an increasing incidence of people at risk to develop this pathology (Anderson N, Borlak J, 2008). The frequency is much higher in obese population, for which epidemiological studies report percentages that ranges from 57.5% to 74%. NAFLD has been described in children as well, with 2.6% occurrence in non-obese, which rises to 22.5% in obese ones (Angulo P, 2002).

The pathological mechanisms that induce the development of NAFLD are so far not completely clarified and still matter of debate, even if some key factors have been identified. Several theories have been proposed to date, but now most researchers believe that the first step required for NAFLD to develop is onset of insulin resistance, according to what hypothesised by Day CP and James OFW in 1998. Insulin resistance, in turn, would lead to an increase in fat accumulation, and hence to a pathological steatosis, probably inducing modifications in the uptake, synthesis, oxidation or export of lipids (Angulo P, 2002).

Onset of insulin resistance is certainly one of the most intriguing and challenging topics to deal with in cellular and molecular biology, considering that many cellular processes involved have been identified until now, but that many others remain obscure so far. For what concerns the liver, the first step that is able to trigger insulin resistance is lipid accumulation due to a dietary fat overload.

In the liver, insulin binding to its own receptor (IR) present in the plasma membrane leads to activation of its tyrosine kinase activity that result in phosphorylation of

Insulin Receptor Substrate proteins 1 and 2 (IRS1/2), event which in turn is able to activate Akt2 by means of several steps. Activated Akt2 determines the activation of glycogen synthase (GS), suppression of gluconeogenesis, and promotion of de novo lipogenesis through SREBP1c activation. Several distinct as well as overlapping biochemical deregulations can perturb this pathway. First of all, it has been shown that lipid accumulation is able to induce an increase in diacylglycerol (DAG) content, which is a well-known activator of protein kinase C (PKC) family. In the liver raised levels of DAG lead to activation of PKCE, which is supposed to lead to impairment of IR activity, and of PKC δ that has been reported as well to play a role, probably by influencing lipid homeostasis. Interestingly PKC δ seems to be able to respond to the proinflammatory milieu that can arise as a consequence of a continuative hyperlipidemia, probably through IL6R or IKK-B. Ceramides as well are probably involved through the activation of PP2A, which in turn dephosphorylate Akt2, impairing its functionality. Moreover ceramides are able to block the dissociation of the complex PKCζ•Akt2 that normally occurs after insulin stimulation, again impeding Akt2 effects.

So far several pathological conditions have been shown to be induced by the non proper functioning of the mTOR-activated pathways, including tumours, neurodegenerative processes, obesity and type 2 diabetes. For this reasons, many research groups worldwide are actually studying this topic, trying to find pharmacological approaches useful from a therapeutic point of view.

From a biochemical point of view, mTOR can be classified as an atypical Ser/Thr protein kinase, included in the broad family of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)-related kinase. Usually it interacts with different proteins, which confer to mTOR peculiar characteristics that define its physiological functions. Depending on which

proteins mTOR associates with, it forms two different complexes with different roles and sensitivity to rapamycin, termed mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) and mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2) (Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2012).

At the present time more data have been collected about mTORC1 with respect mTORC2, even though now many efforts are addressed on mTORC2.

Several factors connected to the energetic status of the cell have been shown to be responsible for the activation of mTORC1, i.e. oxygen, amino acids, energy levels as well as growth factors, having as an outcome the control of some of the most important cellular processes, such as macromolecule biosynthesis, for instance lipid and proteins, cell cycle progression, autophagy, lysosome biogenesis, cell growth and metabolism.

For what concerns mTORC2, it is known that it is activated by growth factors such as insulin, and that it regulates cell survival, metabolism and cytoskeletal organisation.

Two main pathways downstream mTORC2 have been identified to date, both ones involving chains of phosphorylation events, but leading to different outcomes. The most characterised pathways are those involving Akt and serum- and glucocorticoid-induced protein kinase 1 (SGK1). mTORC2 directly phosphorylates Akt on the critical Ser473 residue, resulting in its full activation (Sarbassov DD et al., 2005), which in turn affects several essential cellular processes, such as metabolism, growth and proliferation, survival and apoptosis, at the level of many tissues. It is possible to say that when mTORC2 is defective, the consequent lack of Akt functionality results in impaired phosphorylation of several key Akt targets, such as forkhead box O1/3A (FoxO1/3A).

In the liver several key metabolic pathways are controlled by mTORC1 ad mTORC2, being of essential importance in the normal homeostasis of this organ, but as well

involved in the onset of several hepatic pathological conditions, such as for example nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). In a normal physiological state mTORC1 activation stimulates lipogenesis through a SREBP1c-mediated mechanism in a still unknown way, and inhibits ketogenesis by inducing nuclear accumulation of nuclear receptor corepressor 1 (NCoR1), which in turn blocks the activity of PPAR- α (Yecies JL et al., 2011; Sengupta S et al., 2010). On the other hand, in a condition of nutrient overload and obesity, mTORC1/S6K1 activity is increased, which results in an inhibition of IRS1 activity with the consequent development of insulin resistance (Tremblay F et al., 2007). Interestingly, the high rates of activation of mTORC1 due to the elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines and nutrients typically found in insulin resistant conditions could explain why lipogenesis remains very active aggravating further the pathological profile (Peterson TR et al., 2011). For what concerns the role played by mTORC2, several evidences suggest that a blockage of PI3K/Akt signaling results in an increased gluconeogenesis, contributing to hyperglycaemia and to onset of hyperinsulinemia. In addition, a very recent paper shed some light on these topics recognising the essential role of mTORC2 in driving lipogenesis independently of Akt2 activation, whereas gluconeogenesis seems to be mTORC2-independent (Yuan M et al., 2012).

In the last years many researchers and clinicians focused their attention on the role played by fructose in metabolic diseases, such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome, as well as in liver specific pathologies, the most extensively studied being certainly Non Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD). This huge debate about the role of fructose probably rose as a consequence of the recent increased diffusion of sweetened foods and beverages, which are produced typically using High Fructose Corn Syrup (HFCS) (White JS, 2008).

Several clinical studies seem to agree with the observation that fructose can be considered seriously harmful when consumed at very high doses, and particularly in overweight or obese subjects. In particular, it has been reported that fructose overconsumption was able to alter lipid metabolism, inducing dyslipidemia and increase in blood glucose, without affecting insulin sensitivity, in the case of a moderate overfeeding (Lê KA et al., 2006). Employing higher fructose concentrations for a longer period coupled to an hypercaloric diet, slightly different but still coherent results were obtained, with a moderate augment of circulating triglycerides and ectopic fat deposition, together with a decrease in hepatic insulin sensitivity. These values were significantly higher in healthy offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes, a subgroup of individuals prone to develop metabolic disorders (Lê KA et al., 2009). Moreover, when compared to glucose overfeeding in the context of a hypercaloric diet in healthy males, fructose overfeeding results in comparable or lighter effects in all the metabolic parameters taken in account (Ngo Sock ET et al., 2010). Shifting attention to the liver, it seems likely that the augmented hepatic fat deposition observed during fructose overload trials might be explainable admitting a stimulation of de-novo lipogenesis, together with an inhibition of lipid oxidation (Lê KA et al., 2009). Nonetheless until now no evidences have been collected about the role played by fructose per se in an *in vitro* system, without any systemic or physiological influence, and no information is present on the possible pathways it might activate.

Considering this background, aim of this work was to develop an *in vitro* model for NAFLD, with particular reference to the first "hit", that is onset of steatosis and insulin resistance. Moreover, we tested the effects on steatosis and insulin resistance of 3,5-diiodothyronine and 3,3'-diiodothyronine, trying to assess potential mechanisms of action, considering that, as described in the introduction, these molecules were shown

to influence lipid metabolism in other experimental systems and might, due to their similarity with T_4 and T_3 , activate cellular signaling pathways. The experiments described in this work were performed in two different experimental systems, rat primary hepatocytes cultured on collagen-coated dishes, and human primary hepatocytes cultured on Matrigel-coated dishes. In the first, the effect of oleic acid and fructose on triglycerides accumulation and insulin resistance induction was taken in account, together with the effect of 3,5-diiodothyronine on the same parameters. To evaluate the induction of insulin resistance, three markers were used, i.e. the levels of expression of p85a subunit of PI3K, PTEN and Akt. Moreover we looked at Akt phosphorylation as well, to evaluate both insulin resistance and the effect of 3,5diiodothyronine. In the second experimental model used, attention was concentrated on the analysis of the effects of 3,5-diiodothyronine and 3,3'-diiodothyronine as lipid lowering agents, and on their ability to activate insulin signaling, trying to discover the molecular signaling pathways involved. In particular, the effect on Akt and FoxO1 phosphorylation was analysed as markers of activation of the insulin pathway, and the possible involvement of mTORC2 as a mediator of the action of these two molecules was studied as well.

MATERIALS and METHODS

1. MATERIALS

1.1 Chemicals

All chemicals were purchased from SIGMA, ALDRICH, SIGMA-ALDRICH and MERCK.

1.2 Antibodies

Rat primary hepatocytes

Primary antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY[®]: PI3 Kinase p85 (19H8) [cat. #4257], Akt (pan) (11E7) Rabbit mAb [cat. #4685], PTEN (D5G7) Rabbit mAb [cat. #5384] and from SIGMA-ALDRICH[®]: Rabbit Anti-Actin [cat. #A2066].

Human primary hepatocytes

Primary and secondary antibodies were purchased from Cell Signalling TECHNOLOGY[®]: Akt2 (D6G4) Rabbit mAb [cat. #3063]; Phospho-Akt (Ser473) (D9E) XP[®] Rabbit mAb [cat. #4060]; FoxO1 (C29H4) Rabbit mAb [cat. #2880]; Phospho-FoxO1 (Ser256) Antibody [cat. #9461]; Rictor (53A2) Rabbit mAb [cat. #2114]; mTOR (7C10) Rabbit mAb [cat. #2983], Anti-rabbit IgG, HRP-linked Antibody [cat. #7074].

1.3 Solutions

Rat primary hepatocytes

Hank I and Hank II

A stock solution was prepared in the following way: 140 mM NaCl, 5 mM KCl, 0.8 mM MgSO₄•7H₂O, 0.34 mM Na₂HPO₄, 0.44 mM KH₂PO₄, 6 mM NaHCO₃, 3 mM Hepes. Using this stock solution, Hank I and Hank II were then made in this manner:

Hank I adding 2% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA), 0.06 mM EGTA and Hank II with 0.5 mM CaCl₂•2H₂O and collagenase; pH of both solutions should be set to 7.4.

Krebs-Henseleit

A stock solution was prepared in the following way: 240 mM NaCl, 9.6 mM KCl, 2.4 mM MgSO₄•7H₂O, 0.34 mM Na₂HPO₄, 2.4 mM KH₂PO₄, 3.9 mM CaCl₂•2H₂O, 50 mM NaHCO₃, 3 mM Hepes. This stock solution has to be completed with 2% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) and 12.5 mM Hepes to obtain the working solution.

Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS)

PBS was prepared with 170 mM NaCl, 3.35 mM KCl, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.8 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.68 mM CaCl₂•2H₂O, 0.49 mM MgCl₂•6H₂O.

Tris Buffered Saline

50 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, pH 7.4 with HCl

Human primary hepatocytes

Perfusion buffer 1 (P1 medium)

P1 medium was prepared adding 0.5 mM EGTA (234.2 mg/L), 0.5% w/v BSA, and 50 μ g/mL ascorbic acid in Ca²⁺- and Mg²⁺- free Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) without phenol red.

Perfusion buffer 2 (P2 digestion medium)

P2 digestion medium was prepared dissolving 0.025% w/v collagenase XI (250 mg/L and 0.5% w/v BSA in Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium with Earle's salts (EMEM). This buffer is typically used 100 mL/10 g liver.
2. METHODS

2.1 Adult Rat Primary Hepatocytes

Hepatocytes were obtained with a perfusive enzymatic method, according to the procedure originally described by Moldeus and colleagues (Moldeus P et al., 1978), and successively revised by De Colli and colleagues (De Colli M et al., 1981). Briefly, rats were anesthetized by intraperitoneal administration of sodium pentobarbital (5 mg/100 g body weight). The liver was perfused firstly with a calcium-free Hank's balanced salt solution containing 2% BSA and 0.6 mM EGTA acid, and secondly with Hank's solution containing 4 mM calcium chloride and 0.04% collagenase. Hepatocytes were released into a Krebs-Henseleit buffer with 2% BSA and subsequently seeded in 35 or 60 mm collagen-coated dishes.

2.2 Foetal Rat Primary Hepatocytes

Hepatocytes were obtained using a non-perfusive enzymatic method, according to the procedure described by Conti DeVirgiliis and colleagues (Conti DeVirgiliis L et al., 1981).

Briefly, livers extracted from rats at 21th day of intrauterine life, were cut in very small pieces until achieving a homogeneous appearance. This homogenate was then washed, once at room temperature under hood and trice for 10' at 37°C in a tempering bath under 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂ with Hank I solution, to remove calcium and blood. Washed homogenate was subsequently subjected to four enzymatic digestions, 10' each, with Hank II solution containing collagenase and CaCl₂•2H₂O, in the same tempering bath at 37°C under 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂. At the end of every digestion, the supernatant was collected, diluted with Krebs-Henseleit solution and then centrifuged two times for 5' at 4°C. Cells collected after centrifugations were diluted in 5 mL

Krebs-Henseleit, counted in a Thoma-Burke chamber after Trypan Blue staining and finally plated in 35 mm collagen-coated dishes.

2.3 Human Primary Hepatocytes

Human Primary Hepatocytes were isolated by means of a perfusive enzymatic method, as originally described by Ballet F and colleagues (Ballet F et al., 1984), and subsequently revised by LeCluyse EL and Alexandre E (LeCluyse EL, Alexandre E 2010).

Adult human livers are usually obtained from patients undergoing surgical liver resection due to metastatic tumours, from brain-dead-but-beating-heart donors, or from dead people.

All the perfusion apparatus, including tempering water baths, heating devices and peristaltic pumps, and hence the entire procedure should be performed inside a biosafety cabinet. One to three vessels were cannulated and connected to a peristaltic pump, and the liver was placed into a tank containing warm HBSS until it was completely submerged. The tissue was perfused with P1 medium, then with P1 medium without EGTA and finally with P2 digestion medium for 20-25 minutes. After complete digestion was achieved, as revealed by softening and structural breakdown of the parenchyma, and enlargement of the tissue, the liver was disaggregated by chopping with scissors, releasing the hepatocytes which were in turn filtered, using two layers of gauze, centrifuged at 50 g for 5 minutes and washed twice with EMEM. The cells were counted with a Thoma-Burke chamber after Trypan Blue staining and then plated in 6-well plate culture dishes precoated with Matrigel [BD MatrigelTM Basement Membrane Matrix, 10 mL vial, Cat. 354234], 1.5•10⁶ per well.

Hepatocytes were cultured in Swedish Media from William's E medium (WE-SWE), obtained supplementing William's E medium with 2 mM Glutamine, 20 mM Hepes, 10 nM Insulin, 0.01 M Gentamicin, 0.055 μ M (0.05 μ g/mL) and 100 nM Dexamethasone. All concentrations reported should be read as final concentrations in the culture medium.

2.4 Protein determination

Protein concentration was assessed according to the method originally described by Lowry OH et al. (1951) and later reviewed by Peterson GL (1979). This assay is based on a two step reaction that finally leads to development of a blue colour, first step being represented by the interaction between protein and copper in an alkaline medium, followed by reduction of Folin phenol reagent, which was described for the first time by Folin O, Ciocalteu V in 1927. The reactive component of this mixture is the phosphomolybdic-tungstic mixed acid that is the final chromogenic in the assay and includes the following chemical species: 3 H₂O, P₂O₅, 13/14 WO₃, 5/4 MoO₃, 10 H₂O. Colour production is essentially provoked by amino acids tyrosine and tryptophan, even if also cystine, cysteine and histidine give some contributes. These amino acids react with the Folin reagent, inducing the loss of 1,2, or 3 oxygen atoms, generating one or more possible reduced species, which give raise to the typical blue colour with maximum absorbance at λ =750 nm and minimum absorbance at λ =405 nm. Copper by chelating the peptide structure seems to facilitate the electron transfer to the chromogenic species, especially near to amino acids functional groups, in this way improving the sensitivity of the test.



Adult and Foetal Rat Primary Hepatocytes

A standard curve was constructed using Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) 0.1 mg/mL.

Briefly, an aliquot of each sample, variable from 5 to 20 μ L depending on the experiment, was diluted to 200 μ L DH₂O. Subsequently 1 mL solution "A" + "B" (100/1 v/v) was added, and after 10 minutes incubation, 100 μ L solution "C" was inserted. After 30 minutes of incubation, absorbance was measured at λ =660 nm employing a Thermo Spectronic "GENESYS 10-S UV scanning" [Cat. 335907-02] spectrophotometer.

Solution "A": NaK tartrate 200 mg/L, Na₂CO₃ 20 g/L, NaOH 4 g/L dissolved in DH₂O; Solution "B": CuSO₄ 0.1 g/L dissolved in DH₂O; Solution "C": Folin-Ciocalteu, diluted in a 1:1 ratio with DH₂O.

Human Primary Hepatocytes

Protein determination was performed employing the Bio-Rad DC Protein Assay Reagents Package [Cat. 500-0116], which includes: REAGENT A, an alkaline copper tartrate solution and REAGENT B, a dilute Folin Reagent. Protein concentration measurement was realised on 96 well microplates, using a Bio-Rad Protein Standard I (Lyophilized Bovine Plasma Gamma Globulin) [Cat. 500-0005] to build a standard curve, and absorbance was evaluated using a "Tecan Infinite 500" plate reader and "Magellan7" software.

2.5 Oil Red O staining (ORO)

Oil Red O (ORO) (1-(2,5-dimethyl-4-(2-5-dimethylphenyl) phenyldiazenyl) azonapthalen-2-ol, or Solvent Red 27, Sudan Red 5B, C.I. 26125, $C_{26}H_{24}N_4O$) is a lysochrome (fat-soluble dye) diazo dye used for staining of neutral triglycerides and lipids. The basis for these dyes colouring fats resides in their capacity to dissolve into them, in other words the fat acting as a solvent for the dye. In fact lysochromes are mostly insoluble in strongly polar solvents, such as water, somewhat more in less polar solvents, such as ethanol, but are quite strongly soluble in non-polar solvents, such as xylene. Triglycerides, being non-polar compounds, dissolve them quite well, as do other lipids that show fatty components.

ORO has the appearance of a red powder with maximum absorption at 518 (359) nm. It belongs to the same family of dyes that includes Sudan II, Sudan III, Sudan IV, and Sudan Black B, which are characterized to the high affinity to fats, and then widely used to show neutral lipids, triglycerides and lipoproteins. Anyway, due to its deeper red colour resulting in a better quality of the staining, ORO has generally replaced Sudan dyes.

Typically, after the cell culture medium was removed, dishes were washed with PBS and incubated for 10 minutes with 10% formalin in 10X PBS. Formalin was then discarded and after another 1 h incubation with fresh 10% formalin, cells were washed twice with DH₂O and one time with 60% 2-propanol for 5 minutes. Cells were let to dry under hood, subsequently incubated 10 minutes with ORO, and then washed four times with DH₂O. Photos were acquired, ORO was eluted with 100% 2-propanol and absorbance was measured at λ =500 nm, using 100% 2-propanol as a blank.

Oil Red O [SIGMA Cat. O0625] was preliminary dissolved as follows: 0.35% w/v in 100% 2-propanol. Then this stock solution was diluted 60% v/v in DH₂O to obtain the working solution used during experiments.



2.6 Neutral Red staining Cytotoxicity Assay

Neutral Red (3-amino-7-dimethylamino-2-methylphenazine hydrochloride) or toluylene red, Basic Red 5, C.I. 50040, $C_{15}H_{17}ClN_4$) is a slightly cationic dye that easily passes through cell membranes and localises especially inside lysosomes. The acidic milieu typical of these organelles favours the development of a red staining (pH<6.8 give rise to red, pH>6,8 produces orange-yellow).

Toxic treatments are able to induce alterations and damages to cell membranes, including lysosomal ones, resulting in the lost of any acidic compartment inside the cells: in these condition neutral red develops an orange-yellow staining.

This background draws the rationale for the use of this molecule as a cell vitality test, also considering that it is no harmful for health, quite cheap, and easy to perform.

Usually 1 mg/mL solution in DH₂O of Neutral Red [SIGMA Cat. N7005] is prepared and added to culture medium to achieve a final concentration of 10 μ g/mL in the dish. After 1h incubation at 37°C, culture medium was discarded, and cells were washed twice with PBS. Neutral Red was eluted using acetil-ethanol, prepared by mixing glacial acetic acid with 50% v/v ethanol/DH₂O in 1:99 ratio. Absorbance was measured at λ =540 nm, using acetil-ethanol as a blank, and values were normalised for protein content.



2.7 Lipid extraction and triglycerides measurement

After the cell culture medium was discarded, dishes were washed twice with PBS and let dry at room temperature under hood. Lipids were extracted employing a mixture Hexan:Isopropanol (3:2), in two consecutive times 1 h and 30 minutes each respectively, and plates were let dry under hood until residual solvent was completely evaporated. Protein concentration was evaluated with the Lowry procedure, after dissolving cells in 1 M NaOH overnight.

The lipid extract was dried under N₂ flow at 40°C using a needle analytical evaporator [The MEYER N-EVAP. ANALYTICAL EVAPORATOR Organomation ASSOCIATE INC. P.O., Box 159 South Berlin MA 01549], then dissolved in CHCl₃ and dried again under N₂ flow at 40°C. The extract was suspended in CHCl₃+1% Triton X-100 and dried again. DH₂O was finally added until the solution is completely clear. Triglycerides content was evaluated with an enzymatic colorimetric test [TG Triglycerides GPO-PAP – Roche/Hitachi Cat. 12016648] based on the following reactions:

Triglycerides + $3H_2O$ _____ glycerol + 3RCOOH

Glycerol + ATP \xrightarrow{GK} glycerol-3-phosphate + ADP

Glycerol-3-phosphate + $O_2 \xrightarrow{GPO}$ dihydroxyacetone phosphate + H_2O_2

 $H_2O_2 + 4$ -aminophenazone + 4-chlorophenol $\xrightarrow{PEROXIDASE}$ 4-(p-benzoquinonemonoimino)-phenazone + 2 H_2O +HCl

This method is derived from that described by Wahlefeld AW et al., 1974, and utilises a microorganisms-derived lipoprotein lipase to completely hydrolyse triglycerides to glycerol, which in turn is oxidised to dihydroxyacetone phosphate and hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide is subsequently involved in a peroxidase-catalysed reaction with 4-aminophenazone and 4-chlorophenol, the product of which is a red/orange dye (Trinder endpoint reaction). The colour intensity is directly proportional to the triglycerides concentration and can be evaluated reading absorbance at λ =492 nm using a "Tecan Infinite 500" plate reader and "Magellan7" software, utilising a standard curve constructed using the "Precinorm 120214"

2.8 Transfection with siRNAs

Human primary hepatocytes cultured on Matrigel were transfected with two siRNAs specific for subunit Rictor of mTORC2 [Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY[®]: SignalSilence[®] Rictor siRNA I, cat. #8649 and SignalSilence[®] Rictor siRNA II, cat. #8622], and with a scrambled siRNA to verify the efficiency of transfection [Cell Signaling TECHNOLOGY[®]: SignalSilence[®] Control siRNA, cat. #6568]. Transfection was performed using Lipofectamine[®] RNAiMAX Reagent [InvitrogenTM cat. 13778-030], diluted with Opti-Mem I [InvitrogenTM cat. 11058-021]. To achieve a good efficiency of transfection cell density at plating was set to $0.75 \cdot 10^6$ /mL, 8 µL Lipofectamine[®]/well and 10 µL siRNAs/well were used.

80

2.9 Immunoelectrophoretic analysis

Rat primary hepatocytes

After the cell culture medium was removed, dishes were washed twice with ice-cold PBS, and cells were scraped, collected in PBS and centrifuged at 2200 rpm for 8 minutes. Pellet was then solubilised in a lysis buffer containing 10% SDS, 0.125 M Tris/HCl pH 6.8, 1% PMSF, 1% Leupeptin, 1% Sodium Orthovanadate (NaVO₄). Samples were prepared for western blotting using a loading buffer containing 40% SDS (8%) [Sodium dodecyl sulphate SIGMA Cat. L4509], glycerol (40%) [Glycerol SIGMA Cat. G6279], β-mercaptoethanol (20%) [2-Mercaptoethanol SIGMA Cat. M3148], bromophenol blue (0.04%) [Electrophoresis Purity Reagent Bromophenol Blue, Bio-Rad Cat. N. 161-0404], 0.0315 M Tris/HCl pH 6.8.

Polyacrylamide gels were prepared using the following solutions:

Resolving gel: 3 M Tris/HCl pH 8.8; Stacking gel: 0.5 M Tris/HCl pH 6.8; Acrylamide: 30% Acrylamide/Bis Solution, 29:1 (3,3% C) Acrylamide:N,N'-Methylenbisacrylamid Electrophoresis Purity Reagent [Bio-Rad Cat. 161-0156]; TEMED: N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylethylene-diamine, for electrophoresis, approx. 99% [SIGMA Cat. T9281]; APS: Ammonium Persulfate [Bio-Rad Cat. 161-0700]; protein denaturing agent: 10% SDS.

Proteins were separated in a Bio-Rad Mini-PROTEAN[®] 3 Cell using the following running buffer: 10X Tris/Glycine/SDS Buffer for SDS-PAGE applications [Bio-Rad Cat. 161-0772]. Gels were blotted onto nitrocellulose membranes using the iBlotTM Dry Blotting System [InvitrogenTM Cat. IB1001], and subsequently stained with a 1% Ponceau Red solution in acetic acid [Ponceau S, practical grade – SIGMA Cat. P3504] to verify the blotting efficiency. After 1 h incubation at room temperature in blocking solution (5% defatted dry milk in TBS), membranes were incubated overnight at 4°C

with the primary antibody of interest. Secondary antibody incubation was performed for 1h at room temperature and bands revelation achieved using an ECL system [Thermo SCIENTIFIC SuperSignal[®] West Dura Extended Duration Substrate, Cat. 34075]. Densitometries were realised utilising ImageJ software, free downloadable on http://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/.

Human primary hepatocytes

After the cell culture medium was removed, 6-well plates were washed twice with icecold PBS, and cells were scraped, collected in PBS and centrifuged at 2200 rpm for 8 minutes. Pellet was then solubilised in a lysis buffer containing 10% SDS, 0.125M Tris/HCl pH 6.8, 1 tablet of Complete, Mini, EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablets [Roche Cat. 11 836 170 001], 1 tablet of PhosSTOP – Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail Tablets [Roche Cat. 04 906 845 001].

Samples were prepared for western blotting using Laemmli Sample Buffer [Bio-Rad Cat. 161-0737] following producer's directions for use.

Proteins were separated with Novex[®] 10% Tris-Glycine Gel 1.0 mm x 10 wells [InvitrogenTM Cat. EC6075BOX], in an InvitrogenTM XCell *SureLock*TM Mini-Cell [Cat. EI0001], using the following running buffer: 10X Novex[®] Tris-Glycine SDS Running Buffer [InvitrogenTM Cat. LC2675]. Gels were blotted onto Nitrocellulose Membrane [InvitrogenTM Cat. LC2001], using an InvitrogenTM XCell IITM Blot Module [Cat. EI9051], filled with a transfer buffer prepared as follows: 4% 25X Novex[®] Tris-Glycine Transfer Buffer [InvitrogenTM Cat. LC3675], 20% Methanol, 76% DH₂O. After Ponceau Red staining, performed using SIGMA-ALDRICH Ponceau S solution (0.1 % w/v in 5% acetic acid) [Cat. P7170], membranes were destained with 0.5 M NaOH and subsequently incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature with a blocking solution [Thermo SCIENTIFIC Starting BlockTM T20 (PBS) Blocking Buffer, Cat. 37539]. Primary antibody incubation was carried out overnight at 4°C, whilst secondary antibody incubation was performed for 1h at room temperature; bands were revealed using an ECL system [Thermo SCIENTIFIC SuperSignal[®] West Dura Extended Duration Substrate, Cat. 34075], and chemiluminescence was measured with the Bio-Rad CHEMIDOC[™] XRS System Universal Hood II and analysed employing the Bio-Rad Quantity One[®] Software.

2.10 Statistical analysis

Statistical calculations and graphing were performed using Graph Pad 4.01 software. The data were analysed for normality with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, and significance was assessed with a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD test for multiple comparisons. The data were considered significant when p value <0.05.

RESULTS

The experiments described in this thesis have been performed employing two different experimental systems, rat primary hepatocytes (RPH) at adult and foetal stage cultured on collagen-coated dishes, and human primary hepatocytes (HPH) cultured on Matrigel-coated dishes. Although presenting several points of contact, such results will be hence described separately through this section.

RPH

As previously described, the aim of the study in RPH was to establish an *in vitro* model for the first "hit" of NAFLD and to evaluate in this system the role of fructose and the potential therapeutic role of 3,5-T₂.

As a steatogenic stimulus we used oleic acid, considering that in several other systems it was employed for such purpose (Vidyashankar S et al., 2013). Figure 1 shows the dose-response effect of oleic acid at concentrations ranging from 100 μ M to 500 μ M on triglycerides accumulation and cell viability, after 24 h of treatment. Histograms clearly demonstrate the effect of oleic acid in inducing triglycerides accumulation, with the maximum result obtained at 500 μ M, with nearly double triglycerides content with respect to control. On the other hand, no significant detrimental effects were found on cell viability, regardless of the concentration used, permitting us to choose the concentration of 500 μ M as an excellent compromise between cell viability and induction of triglycerides accumulation.

For what concerns the effect of fructose, Figure 2 reports results of a dose-response analysis, obtained treating hepatocytes with concentrations ranging from 5 mM to 200 mM. The range 5 mM to 20 mM is supposed to be physiological, whereas concentrations above these values should be considered strongly supraphysiological

84

(Segal MS et al., 2007). Our results clearly show that fructose exhibits a huge effect on triglyceride accumulation, comparable to that of oleic acid at the concentration of 50 mM, but no significant effects were observed in the range 5 mM to 20 mM. Interestingly, at higher concentrations, i.e. 100 nM and 200 nM, the amount of stored triglycerides was lower with respect to what observed at 50 mM, and this probably makes sense, if these data are compared with the effect of fructose on cell viability, as shown in the panel B of the figure. In fact is clearly evident as fructose was able to induce a reduction in cell viability, starting with a modest effect at 20 mM, until a minus 70% at 200 mM. For all of these reasons we decided to exclude the two highest concentrations from the following experiments.

In order to assess the effect of oleic acid and fructose when administered together, trying to simulate the typical condition of a western cafeteria diet, we treated hepatocytes for 24 h with 500 μ M oleic acid and 5 mM to 50 mM fructose. Figure 3 clarifies that, also when administered in conjunction with oleic acid, fructose was not able to induce a large increase in triglycerides accumulation if compared with oleic acid alone. Noteworthy, fructose kept its ability to induce cell death, even if the presence of oleic acid worsen such effect, as evidenced in the panel B of the figure.

Considering that until now our model was able to reproduce steatosis without affecting cell viability, we turned our attention on insulin resistance, trying to evaluate if a 24 h treatment with oleic acid and fructose could be able to induce such a condition. For this purpose we considered two markers, i.e. $p85\alpha$ subunit of PI3K and PTEN, which in two different systems, one *in vivo* and one *in vitro*, have been shown to increase when in presence of insulin resistance conditions (Mauvais-Jarvis F et al., 2002; Shen YH et al., 2006; Lee SK et al., 2011).

For what concerns $p85\alpha$, Figure 4A shows how 24 h treatment with 500 µM oleic was able to induce an increased expression of this subunit, whereas panel B suggests that fructose did not change $p85\alpha$ levels. In this perspective, Figure 5 demonstrates the positive effect of 24 h treatment with 500 µM oleic acid on PTEN expression, and these results together with those described previously strongly made us confident that the system we built could be considered with good approximation a steatotic and insulin resistant system.

On this system we analysed the effect of 3,5-T₂ on oleic acid-induced triglycerides accumulation, as reported in Figure 6. To investigate this aspect we utilised two different approaches, the first one consisting in treating hepatocytes with oleic acid and 3,5-T₂ contextually for 24 h, the second one in testing the effect of 24 h treatment with 3,5-T₂ after 24 h incubation with oleic acid. The results obtained using these two different approaches are reported in panel A and panel B respectively, and clearly demonstrate that 3,5-T₂ in the range of physiological concentrations, i.e. 1 nM and 0.1 nM, strongly reduced the triglycerides content, both if administered contextually with oleic acid or in a condition when triglycerides accumulation is well-established. These observations permit us to say that $3,5-T_2$ is able to prevent triglycerides storage inside the hepatocyte, and that it can revert the accumulation induced by oleic acid as well. Once assessed the role of 3,5-T₂ as a lipid-lowering agent, the next step was to analyse the possible role played in the insulin signaling pathway, and for this reason the effect on phosphorylation of Akt at Ser473 residue was examined, considering that this phosphorylation is one of the key steps downstream the insulin receptor. The results obtained, which are reported in Figure 7, are indeed very interesting for at least two reasons. First of all, as reported in panel B, 3,5-T₂ induced Akt phosphorylation comparably to insulin, and when this insulin-induced phosphorylation was inhibited after 24 h incubation with oleic acid, $3,5-T_2$ was still capable to drive this phosphorylation, suggesting that most probably $3,5-T_2$ follows a different pathway with respect to insulin. Secondly, as reported in panel A, we found that after 24 h oleic acid load, the level of total Akt was increased of about 50% if compared to control, similarly to what shown for p85 α and PTEN. Actually we are not able to explain this result, or to say if and in which way it could be interpreted as a sign of insulin resistance, but we can consider it as an interesting future topic of investigation.

To conclude the description of results obtained in RPH, now several data obtained using foetal RPH will be reported, which are not conclusive and still opened to further investigations, but anyway interesting, considering that they show several differences with respect to what found in adult cells. For example, as reported in Figure 8 A and B, oleic acid seemed to be less steatogenic in foetal cells, but also more toxic, and 3,5-T₂ appeared completely ineffective in preventing triglycerides accumulation, even if not toxic. On the other hand, similarly to what already demonstrated in adult hepatocytes, 24 h incubation with 500 μ M oleic acid was able to stimulate synthesis of p85 α subunit of PI3K, as represented in Figure 9 A, whereas 24 h incubation with 10 mM fructose did not affect such synthesis, as reported in Figure 9 B.

HPH

The experiments that will be described now with HPH were performed employing HPH cultured on Matrigel-coated dishes. Matrigel is a complex mixture of extracellular matrix proteins, originally isolated from the Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm mouse (EHS) sarcoma (Kleinman HK et al., 1982). This substrate allows to keep better in culture all the liver-specific characteristics of hepatocytes, such as morphology and several metabolic pathways (Ben-Ze'ev A et al., 1988), as described elsewhere in this thesis, giving the opportunity to work with a system resembling in most aspects a real

liver. Such morphological differences with respect to the usual collagen-grown hepatocytes is clearly noticeable in Figure 10, which reports two photos that were taken at two different magnification, 20X (A) and 40X (B).

Utilising this system we tried to analyse the effect of both diiodothyronines, $3,3'-T_2$ and $3,5'-T_2$ as lipid lowering agents, evaluating the total triglyceride content after 24 h, 48 h and 72 h of treatment, using decreasing concentrations of the two diiodothyronines, starting with 100 nM until 0.1 nM. These experiments were carried out using hepatocytes obtained from two different patients, one female and one male. Figure 11 reports the results acquired with the female patient, which show a reduction in the triglycerides content after the treatment with both diiodothyronines. An analogous result was found in the male patient, after 24 h and 72 h, as evidenced in Figure 12.

Once clarified that both diiodothyronines were able to reduce triglyceride content, attention was focused on their potential role in the stimulation of insulin signaling pathway, similarly to what already found in RPH. For such purpose we considered two well-known markers of this pathway, which are Akt and FoxO1. Again we utilised cells obtained from one male and one female patient, and for brevity one single experiment for each patient will be reported, considering that we obtained comparable results in both patients. Figure 13 reports the effect of 10 min. stimulation with $3,5'-T_2$ and $3,3'-T_2$ on phosphorylation of Akt at Ser473 residue in a female patient (VF8, from the place of isolation), and the graphs clearly demonstrated the huge increase in phosphorylation obtained, in the order of 200% with respect to control. Figure 14 reports the results obtained with the male patient (HF162, from the place of isolation), obtained blotting samples for phosphorylation of FoxO1 at Ser256, which is known to drive the proteasomal degradation of FoxO1, permitting the transcription of insulin-

responsive genes (Zhang X et al., 2002; Matsuzaki H et al., 2003). Similarly to what reported for Akt, an increase in the phosphorylation in the order of 150-200% with respect to control was found, strongly suggesting a direct positive role of diiodothyronines in the activation of insulin signaling.

Considering the data reported for RPH, which demonstrated that 3,5-T₂ was able to induce the phosphorylation of Akt in an insulin-resistant system, the question on which pathway diiodothyronines might use to stimulate such activation was taken in account. Among all the possible pathways that could be used, my idea was that a probable mediator might be mTORC2, for all the reasons already specified in the introduction and in the aim of the work. To test this hypothesis, Rictor subunit of mTORC2 complex was silenced using a siRNA approach, then hepatocytes were stimulated with 3,3'-T₂ for 10 min. and samples were blotted for Akt phosphorylated at Ser473 residue. As reported in Figures 15 and 16, the phosphorylation of Akt at Ser473 residue was completely blocked after treatment with siRNA(I) and siRNA(I+II), whereas only slightly reduced after silencing with siRNA(II) alone. Finally, to verify the efficiency of transfection, three different approaches were used, as shown in the last three figures. First of all cells were silenced with a scramble siRNA (control siRNA), to confirm that after such a silencing phosphorylation of Akt were still present, and indeed it was the case, as clearly demonstrated in Figure 17. Hence, to substantiate further this observation, the levels of Rictor and mTOR before and after silencing were evaluated, and results obtained confirmed that silencing was successfully achieved, and also that siRNA(I) resulted much more efficient if compared with siRNA(II).



Fig.1 Effect of Oleic Acid (OA) on triglycerides accumulation and cell viability in rat primary hepatocytes, assessed using Oil Red O staining (A) and Neutral Red staining (B). Cells were treated for 24 h with OA and then analysed according to the respective protocols, as described in Materials and Methods section. Data represent at least four different experiments performed in duplicate.



Fig.2 Effect of Fructose (Fruct.) on triglycerides accumulation and cell viability in rat primary hepatocytes, assessed using Oil Red O staining (A) and Neutral Red staining (B). Cells were treated for 24 h with Fruct. and then analysed according to the respective protocols, as described in Materials and Methods section. Data represent at least four different experiments performed in duplicate.



Fig.3 Effect of Oleic Acid (OA) plus Fructose (Fruct.) on triglycerides accumulation and cell viability in rat primary hepatocytes, assessed using Oil Red O staining (A) and Neutral Red staining (B). Cells were treated for 24 h with OA plus Fruct. and then analysed according to the respective protocols, as described in Materials and Methods section. Data represent at least four different experiments performed in duplicate.





Fig.4 Effect of Oleic Acid (OA) (A) and Fructose (Fruct.) (B) on p85 levels in rat primary hepatocytes, assessed by Western Blot. Cells were treated for 24 h with OA or Fruct. Western Blot was performed according to the procedure described in Materials and Methods section. Data represent at least three different experiments performed in duplicate.



Fig.5 Effect of Oleic Acid (OA) on PTEN levels in rat primary hepatocytes, assessed by Western Blot. Cells were treated for 24 h with OA. Western Blot was performed according to the procedure described in Materials and Methods section. Data represent at least three different experiments performed in duplicate.



Fig.6 Effect of 3,5-Diiodothyronine $(3,5-T_2)$ on Oleic Acid (OA)-induced triglycerides accumulation in rat primary hepatocytes, assessed using Oil Red O staining. Cells were treated for 24 h with OA plus 3,5-T₂ (A), or treated for 24 h with OA and subsequently with 3,5-T₂ for additional 24 h (B) and then analysed according to the respective protocol, as described in Materials and Methods section. Data represent at least four different experiments performed in duplicate.

Figure 7



Fig.7 Effect of Oleic Acid (OA) and $3,5-T_2$ on Akt phosphorylation at Ser473 residue in rat primary hepatocytes, assessed by Western Blot. Cells were treated for 24 h with OA and then stimulated for 15' with Insulin (Ins) 100 nM and for 10' with $3,5-T_2$ 1 nM. Western Blot was performed according to the procedure described in Materials and Methods section. (A) Akt total; (B) Akt-P(Ser473). Data represent at least three different experiments performed in duplicate.



Fig.8 Effect of 3,5-Diiodothyronine $(3,5-T_2)$ on Oleic Acid (OA)-induced triglycerides accumulation and cell viability in foetal rat primary hepatocytes, assessed using Oil Red O staining (A), and Neutral Red Staining (B). Cells were treated for 24 h with OA plus 3,5-T₂ and then analysed according to the respective protocols, as described in Materials and Methods section. Data represent at least four different experiments performed in duplicate.





Fig.9 Effect of Oleic Acid (OA) (A) and Fructose (Fruct.) (B) on p85 levels in foetal rat primary hepatocytes, assessed by Western Blot. Cells were treated for 24 h with OA or Fruct. Western Blot was performed according to the procedure described in Materials and Methods section. Data represent at least three different experiments performed in duplicate.

A B

Fig.10 Examples of Human Primary Hepatocytes (HPH) cultured on Matrigel-coated dishes. Photos were taken at two different magnification, 20X (A) and 40X (B).



Fig.11 Effect of 3,3'-Diiodothyronine $(3,3'-T_2)$ and 3,5-Diiodothyronine $(3,5-T_2)$ on total triglycerides level in human primary hepatocytes, assessed using a triglycerides determination kit as described in Materials and Methods section. Cells were treated for 24 h (A) and 48 h (B) with 3,3'-T₂ or 3,5-T₂ before extracting lipids, as explained in Materials and Methods section.

Α

В



Fig.12 Effect of 3,3'-Diiodothyronine $(3,3'-T_2)$ and 3,5-Diiodothyronine $(3,5-T_2)$ on total triglycerides level in human primary hepatocytes, assessed using a triglycerides determination kit as described in Materials and Methods section. Cells were treated for 24 h (A) and 72 h (B) with 3,3'-T₂ or 3,5-T₂ before extracting lipids, as explained in Materials and Methods section.

Α

В



Fig.13 Effect of 3,5-Diiodothyronine $(3,5-T_2)$ and 3,3'-Diiodothyronine $(3,3'-T_2)$ on Akt phosphorylation at Ser473 residue in human primary hepatocytes, assessed by Western Blot. Cells were treated for 10' with 1 nM 3,5-T₂ and 3,3'-T₂. Western Blot was performed according to the procedure described in Materials and Methods section.



Fig.14 Effect of 3,5-Diiodothyronine (3,5-T₂) and 3,3'-Diiodothyronine (3,3'-T₂) on FoxO1 phosphorylation at Ser256 residue in human primary hepatocytes, assessed by Western Blot. Cells were treated for 10' with 1 nM 3,5-T₂ and 3,3'-T₂. Western Blot was performed according to the procedure described in Materials and Methods section.

Chi

Akt-P(Ser473) - Rictor SILENCING [1]



Fig.15 Effect of 3,3'-Diiodothyronine $(3,3'-T_2)$ on Akt phosphorylation at Ser473 residue in human primary hepatocytes after siRNA silencing of Rictor subunit of mTORC2 complex, assessed by Western Blot. Cells were silenced with siRNA(I) and then treated for 10' with 3,3'-T₂ 1 nM. Gene silencing and Western Blot were performed according to the procedure described in Materials and Methods section.



Fig.16 Effect of 3,3'-Diiodothyronine $(3,3'-T_2)$ on Akt phosphorylation at Ser473 residue in human primary hepatocytes after siRNA silencing of Rictor subunit of mTORC2 complex, assessed by Western Blot. Cells were silenced with siRNA(II) and siRNA(I+II), and then treated for 10' with 3,3'-T₂ 1 nM. Gene silencing and Western Blot were performed according to the procedures described in Materials and Methods section.



Fig.17 Effect of 3,3'-Diiodothyronine $(3,3'-T_2)$ on Akt phosphorylation at Ser473 residue in human primary hepatocytes after treatment with a CtrlsiRNA (scramble), assessed by Western Blot. Cells were silenced with the CtrlsiRNA and then treated for 10' with 3,3'-T₂ 1 nM. Gene silencing and Western Blot were performed according to the procedures described in Materials and Methods section.



Fig.18 Effect of 3,3'-Diiodothyronine $(3,3'-T_2)$ and on the levels of Rictor subunit of mTORC2 in human primary hepatocytes after siRNA silencing of Rictor subunit of mTORC2 complex, assessed by Western Blot. Cells were silenced with siRNA(I), siRNA(II) and siRNA(I+II), and then treated for 10' with 3,3'-T₂ 1 nM. Gene silencing and Western Blot were performed according to the procedures described in Materials and Methods section.



Fig.19 Effect of 3,3'-Diiodothyronine $(3,3'-T_2)$ on the levels of mTOR in human primary hepatocytes after siRNA silencing of Rictor subunit of mTORC2 complex, assessed by Western Blot. Cells were silenced with siRNA(I), siRNA(II) and siRNA(I+II), and then treated for 10' with 3,3'-T₂ 1 nM. Gene silencing and Western Blot were performed according to the procedures described in Materials and Methods section.
DISCUSSION

Taken together the results obtained in rat primary hepatocytes (RPH) show that the system we built can be considered a good experimental model to simulate a steatotic and insulin resistant liver, and hence to test the action of potentially therapeutic molecules.

First of all our data demonstrate for the first time in an *in vitro* system that p85a subunit of PI3K is directly involved in the onset of insulin resistance, as previously described *in vivo* in mice (Mauvais-Jarvis F et al., 2002), in this way providing a new useful tool to study this topic and to test the efficacy of new therapeutic molecules. Analogously, we found an increase in PTEN levels, as already reported in endothelial cells and 3T3-L1 cells (Wang XL et al., 2006; Shen YH et al., 2006; Lee SK et al., 2011), further substantiating our model. Interestingly, we also found an increase in the levels of Akt after oleic acid treatment, but actually we are not able to explain this observation, leaving this topic to successive analysis. In this system 3,5-diiodothyronine in the range of physiological concentrations hugely reduces the amount of triglycerides, and induces phosphorylation of Akt at Ser473 residue, possibly activating insulin signaling pathway through a distinct pathway.

For what concerns the role of fructose, these data support the idea that fructose per se, in the range of physiological concentrations, is not able to induce neither triglycerides accumulation nor insulin resistance, and several studies carried out in *in vivo* systems seem to be coherent with our observations. Studies carried out *in vivo* in rodents shown that high doses of fructose are responsible for an increased hepatic inflammation, in this way favouring the transition from a steatotic condition to steatohepatitis. In fact, in mice it has been demonstrated that a high-fructose diet is able to induce a TNF α - mediated steatosis and insulin resistance together with an increased neutrophil infiltration, suggesting that fructose may be involved in the onset of steatohepatitis as a proinflammatory agent (Kanuri G et al., 2011). Similarly it has been shown that a high fat coupled to a high fructose diet determines an increased hepatic ROS production and a NASH-like phenotype with significant fibrosis. The mechanism of fibrosis may involve an increased hepatic oxidative stress associated with hepatic macrophage aggregation, which in turn induces a TGF β 1-signaled collagen deposition and histologically evident hepatic fibrosis (Kohli R et al., 2010). Interestingly, a recent study carried out in mice suggests that a chronic intake of high doses of fructose is able to induce a huge bacterial overgrowth at the intestine level, that together with an increased permeability, finally results in an endotoxin-dependent activation of hepatic Kupffer cells, which can contribute to the onset of hepatic insulin resistance through a TNF α -mediated mechanism (Spruss A et al., 2009).

These observations are thus consistent with our data, supporting the idea that fructose exerts detrimental effects only at very high doses, and not through a liver specific mechanism, but rather through systemic effects that trigger an increase of oxidative and inflammatory stress at the whole body level. These factors if associated with the other typical risk factors such as calories surplus coupled with high prevalence of fats in the diet and scarce physical activity, might constitute an additional stimulus towards progression to NASH. Quite unexpectedly, a very recent work demonstrates that in humans small doses of fructose (≤ 10 g/meal), may exert beneficial effects on glycaemic control without adverse effects on body weight, cardiovascular system, TAG levels, insulin and uric acid (Sievenpiper JL et al., 2012 [a]).

For what concerns the data obtained with human primary hepatocytes (HPH), in my opinion they are very important for several reasons. First of all, the experimental

110

system used, HPH cultured on Matrigel, represents the most reliable reproduction of a real human liver that is actually possible to achieve, as already described in the analysis of other liver specific metabolic pathways (Ellis E et al., 1998; Ellis E et al., 2001; Olsavsky KM et al., 2007). Secondly, in addition to confirm what observed in RPH for 3,5-diiodothyronine effect on triglyceride content and Akt phosphorylation, these results extend the analysis to FoxO1, in this way clarifying better the signal transduction pathway, and even more interestingly to 3,3'-diiodothyronine. Indeed, this diiodothyronine might be of greater therapeutic relevance if compared to 3,5diiodothyronine, considering that no thyromimetic effects have been found until now for $3,3'-T_2$, whereas it has been established that $3,5-T_2$ shares some effects with T_3 , even if of lesser magnitude (Ball SG et al., 1997). Thirdly, these data demonstrates for the first time that both $3,5-T_2$ and $3,3'-T_2$ are able to activate the insulin signaling pathway through an mTORC2 mediated mechanism, opening the way to several other very interesting future directions at basic and applied science level. From a basic science point of view, as described elsewhere in this thesis, no information is present until now about signals that could activate mTORC2, with the exception of a recent paper that demonstrate a direct activation mediated by PIP₃ (Gan X et al., 2011). Thus our data might represent an interesting and useful starting point to deeply analyse this topic, trying to clarify which and how many additional pieces this mosaic owns. Two different hypotheses seem to be particularly promising in our opinion, the first being the potential involvement of a membrane receptor, in analogy to what described about the interaction between thyroxin and triiodothyronine and integrin $\alpha V\beta 3$, the second the possible participation of a cytoplasmic TRB1, as already described for triiodothyronine (Verga Falzacappa C et al., 2007; Verga Falzacappa C et al., 2009).

In the perspective of applied, translational research, these results offer an interesting future pharmaceutical tool to try to cope with obesity and type II diabetes, which are now considered new emerging epidemics in the field of metabolic diseases (Pischon T et al., 2008; Zimmet P et al., 2001). Several therapeutic approaches have been suggested to date for NAFLD, taking in account the different steps involved in the progression of this pathological condition. Primarily, several authors described the beneficial effects of lifestyle modifications, weight loss and physical activity, but also underlining the poor sustainability of weight loss and the difficulty to achieve a maintainable rate of physical activity in all patients (Harrison SA, Day CP, 2007; St. George A, et al., 2009; Johnson NA, George J, 2010). Moreover it is now becoming clear that adiposity, fat distribution and body weight regulation are processes that are, at least in part, under genetic control, suggesting that some people could be more predisposed to develop this kind of pathologies (Morton GJ, et al., 2006; Schwimmer JB et al., 2009; Lindgren CM et al., 2009; Willer CJ et al., 2009). Nowadays several molecules are available that can be used to improve NAFLD clinical picture, such as pioglitazone and vitamin E, even if the results are not completely convincing, and some side effects, such as weight gain, have been described (Sanyal AJ et al., 2010). In this context the possible future use diiodothyronines, and in particular of 3,3'diiodothyronine, could offer a new tool in the management of NAFLD, to be used together with the lifestyle modifications described above and maybe with other dietary supplements. Diiodothyronines might have a positive role in improving the overall lipid profile of patients, especially reducing abdominal adiposity and intrahepatic fat, two widely recognised triggering factors of NAFLD, as well as of metabolic syndrome (Després JP, Lemieux I, 2006; Gastaldelli A et al., 2009; Fabbrini E et al., 2009;

Fabbrini E et al., 2010). Moreover they may contribute to reactivate the insulin

signaling pathway, bypassing the classical IR-IRS1/2 steps, which are typically blocked in type 2 diabetes condition, as described in detail in the introduction. These aspects, in conjunction with the fact that diiodothyronines, but in particular 3,3'-diiodothyronine, do not show the typical adverse effects that can arise after a thyroid hormone supplementation, permit us to be quite confident that in the future these molecules may help clinicians in improving NAFLD and metabolic diseases as well.

REFERENCES

Abdelmalek MF, Suzuki A, Guy C, Unalp-Arida A, Colvin R, Johnson RJ, Diehl AM; Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis Clinical Research Network 2010. Increased fructose consumption is associated with fibrosis severity in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology 51: 1961-1971*

Aguirre V, Werner ED, Giraud J, Lee YH, Shoelson SE, White MF, 2002. Phosphorylation of Ser307 in insulin receptor substrate-1 blocks interactions with the insulin receptor and inhibits insulin action. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277: 1531-1537

Anderson N & Borlak J, 2008. Molecular Mechanisms and Therapeutic Targets in Steatosis and Steatohepatitis. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 60(3): 311-357

Angulo P, 2002. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 346: 1221-1231

Angulo P, Hui JM, Marchesini G, Bugianesi E, George J, Farrell GC, Enders F, Saksena S, Burt AD, Bida JP, Lindor K, Sanderson SO, Lenzi M, Adams LA, Kench J, Therneau TM, Day CP, 2007. The NAFLD fibrosis score: a non-invasive system that identifies liver fibrosis in patients with NAFLD. *Hepatology* 45: 846-854

Arnold S, Goglia F, Kadenbach B, 1998. 3,5-diiodothyronine binds to subunit Va of cytochrome c oxidase and abolishes the allosteric inhibition of respiration by ATP. *Eur. J. Biochem. 252: 325-330*

Assy N, Kaita K, Mymin D, Levy C, Rosser B, Minuk G, 2000. Fatty infiltration of liver in hyperlipidemic patients. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 45: 1929-1934

Ball SG, Sokolov J, Chin WW, 1997. 3,5-Diiodo-L-thyronine (T_2) has selective thyromimetic effects *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *J. Mol. Endocrinol.* 19: 137-1472

Ballet F, Bouma ME, Wang SR, Amit N, Marais J, Infante R, 1984. Isolation, culture and characterization of adult human hepatocytes from surgical liver biopsies. *Hepatology 4: 849-854*

Bellentani S, Saccoccio G, Costa G, Tiribelli C, Manenti F, Sodde M, Crocè LS, Sasso F, Pozzato G, Cristianini G, Brandi G, 1997. Drinking habits as cofactors of risk for alcohol induced liver damage. The Dionysos Study Group. *Gut 41:* 845-850

Bellentani S, Saccoccio G, Masutti F, Crocè LS, Brandi G, Sasso F, Cristanini G, Tiribelli C, 2000. Prevalence of and risk factors for hepatic steatosis in Northern Italy. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 132: 112-117

Ben-Ze'ev A, Robinson GS, Bucher NL, Farmer SR, 1988. Cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions differentially regulate the expression of hepatic and cytoskeletal genes in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85: 2161-2165

Bergh JJ, Lin HY, Lansing L, Mohamed SN, Davis FB, Mousa S, Davis PJ, 2005. Integrin alphaVbeta3 contains a cell surface receptor site for thyroid hormone that is linked to activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase and induction of angiogenesis. *Endocrinology* 146: 2864-2871

Bernal J, 1999. Iodine and brain development. *Biofactors 10: 271-276*

Bezy O, Tran TT, Pihlajamäki J, Suzuki R, Emanuelli B, Winnay J, Mori MA, Haas J, Biddinger SB, Leitges M, Goldfine AB, Patti ME, King GL, Kahn CR, 2011. PKCδ regulates hepatic insulin sensitivity and hepatosteatosis in mice and humans. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121: 2504-2517

Brown EJ, Albers MW, Shin TB, Ichikawa K, Keith CT, Lane WS, Schreiber SL, 1994. A mammalian protein targeted by G1-arresting rapamycin-receptor complex. *Nature 369: 756-758*

Browning JD, Szczepaniak LS, Dobbins R, Nuremberg P, Horton JD, Cohen JC, Grundy SM, Hobbs HH, 2004. Prevalence of Hepatic Steatosis in an Urban Population in the United States: Impact of Ethnicity. *Hepatology 40: 1387-1395*

Brunt EM, Janney CG, Di Bisceglie AM, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Bacon BR, 1999. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a proposal for grading and staging the histological lesions. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 94: 2467-2474

Cafferkey R, Young PR, McLaughlin MM, Bergsma DJ, Koltin Y, Sathe GM, Faucette L, Eng WK, Johnson RK, Livi GP, 1993. Dominant missense mutations in a novel yeast protein related to mammalian phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and VPS34 abrogate rapamycin cytotoxicity. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13: 6012-6023

Cai D, Yuan M, Frantz DF, Melendez PA, Hansen L, Lee J, Shoelson SE, 2005. Local and systemic insulin resistance resulting from hepatic activation of IKK-beta and NF-kappaB. *Nat. Med.* 11: 183-190

Carnevalli LS, Masuda K, Frigerio F, Le Bacquer O, Um SH, Gandin V, Topisirovic I, Sonenberg N, Thomas G, Kozma SC, 2010. S6K1 plays a critical role in early adipocyte differentiation. *Dev. Cell.* 18: 763-774

Chavin KD, Yang SQ, Lin HZ, Chatham J, Chacko VP, Hoek JB, Walajtys-Rode E, Rashid A, Chen CH, Huang CC, Wu TC, Lane MD, Diehl AM, 1999. Obesity induces expression of uncoupling protein-2 in hepatocytes and promotes liver ATP depletion. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274: 5692-5700

Chen J, Zheng XF, Brown EJ, Schreiber SL, 1995. Identification of an 11-kDa FKBP12-rapamycin-binding domain within the 289-kDa FKBP12-rapamycinassociated protein and characterization of a critical serine residue. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92: 4947-4951

Cheng SY, Leonard JL, Davis PJ, 2010. Molecular aspects of thyroid hormone actions. *Endocr. Rev. 31: 139-170*

Chidakel A, Mentuccia D, Celi FS, 2005. Peripheral Metabolism of Thyroid Hormone and Glucose Homeostasis. *Thyroid 15: 899-903*

Choksi NY, Jahnke GD, St. Hilaire C, Shelby M, 2003. Role of Thyroid Hormones in Human and Laboratory Animal Reproductive Health. *Birth Defects Res. B* 68: 479-491

Conti Devirgiliis L, Dini L, Di Pierro A, Leoni S, Spagnuolo S, Stefanini S, 1981 *Cell. Mol. Biol.* 27: 687-694

Cortez-Pinto H, Chatham J, Chacko VP, Arnold C, Rashid A, Diehl AM, 1999. Alterations in liver ATP homeostasis in human nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a pilot study. *JAMA* 282: 1659-1664

Cota D, 2009. Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) signaling in energy balance and obesity. *Physiol. Behav.* 97: 520-524

Curzio M, Esterbauer H, Dianzani MU, 1985. Chemotactic activity of hydroxyalkenals on rat neutrophils. *Int. J. Tissue React.* 7: 137-142

Dai G, Levy O, Carrasco N, 1996. Cloning and characterization of the thyroid iodide transporter. *Nature 379: 458-460*

Davis FB, Davis PJ, Blas SD, 1983. Role of calmodulin in thyroid hormone stimulation of in vitro human erythrocyte Ca²⁺-ATPase activity. *J. Clin. Invest.* 71: 579-586

Davis PJ, Davis FB, Cody V, 2005. Membrane receptors mediating thyroid hormone action. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 16: 429-435

Day CP, James OFW, 1998. Steatohepatitis: a tale of two "hits"? *Gastroenterology* 114: 842-845

De Colli M, Massimi M, Barbetta A, Di Rosario BL, Nardecchia S, Conti Devirgiliis L, Dentini M, 2012. A biomimetic porous hydrogel of gelatin and glycosaminoglycans cross-linked with transglutaminase and its application in the culture of hepatocytes. *Biomed. Mater.* 7(5):055005 Epub 2012 Jul 26

Després JP, Isabelle Lemieux, 2006. Abdominal obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Nature* 444: 881-887

Dolan LC, Potter SM, Burdock GA, 2010. Evidence-based review on the effect of normal dietary consumption of fructose on development of hyperlipidemia and obesity in healthy, normal weight individuals. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 50: 53-84 [a]

Dolan LC, Potter SM, Burdock GA, 2010. Evidence-based review on the effect of normal dietary consumption of fructose on blood lipids and body weight of overweight and obese individuals. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 50: 889-918 [b]

Düvel K, Yecies JL, Menon S, Raman P, Lipovsky AI, Souza AL, Triantafellow E, Ma Q, Gorski R, Cleaver S, Vander Heiden MG, MacKeigan JP, Finan PM, Clish CB, Murphy LO, Manning BD, 2010. Activation of a metabolic gene regulatory network downstream of mTOR complex 1. *Mol. Cell.* 39: 171-183

Eastman CJ, Ekins RP, Leith IM, Williams ES, 1974. Thyroid hormone response to prolonged cold exposure in man. J. Physiol. 241: 175-181

Ellis E, Goodwin B, Abrahamsson A, Liddle C, Mode A, Rudling M, Bjorkem I, Einarsson C, 1998. Bile acid synthesis in primary cultures of rat and human hepatocytes. *Hepatology 27: 615-620*

Ellis E, Roeb E, Marschall H, 2001. Primary cultures of human hepatocytes but not HepG2 hepatoblastoma cells are suitable for the study of glycosidic conjugation of bile acids. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta 1530: 155-161*

Fabbrini E, Magkos F, Mohammed BS, Pietka T, Abumrad NA, Patterson BW, Okunade A, Klein S, 2009. Intrahepatic fat, not visceral fat, is linked with metabolic complications of obesity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106: 15430-15435*

Fabbrini E, Sullivan S, Klein S, 2010. Obesity and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: biochemical, metabolic, and clinical implications. *Hepatology 51: 679-689*

Fan CY, Pan J, Usuda N, Yeldandi AV, Rao MS, Reddy JK, 1998. Steatohepatitis, spontaneous peroxisome proliferation and liver tumours in mice lacking peroxisomal fatty acyl-CoA oxidase: implications for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha natural ligand metabolism. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273:15639-15645

Feng X, Jiang Y, Meltzer P, Yen PM, 2000. Thyroid Hormone Regulation of Hepatic Genes in Vivo Detected by Complementary DNA Microarray. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 14: 947-955

Feng Z, Zhang H, Levine AJ, Jin S, 2005. The coordinate regulation of the p53 and mTOR pathways in cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102: 8204-8209*

Fliers E, Unmehopa UA, Alkemade A, 2006. Functional neuroanatomy of thyroid hormone feedback in the human hypothalamus and pituitary gland. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 251: 1-8

Folin O, Ciocalteu V, 1927. On tyrosine and tryptophan determinations in proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 73: 627-649

Gan X, Wang J, Su B, Wu D, 2011. Evidence for Direct Activation of mTORC2 Kinase Activity by Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-Trisphosphate. J. Biol. Chem. 286: 10998-11002

García-Martínez JM, Alessi DR, 2008. mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2) controls hydrophobic motif phosphorylation and activation of serum- and glucocorticoid-induced protein kinase 1 (SGK1). *Biochem. J.* 416: 375-385

Gastaldelli A, Kozakova M, Højlund K, Flyvbjerg A, Favuzzi A, Mitrakou A, Balkau B; RISC Investigators, 2009. Fatty liver is associated with insulin resistance, risk of coronary heart disease, and early atherosclerosis in a large European population. *Hepatology* 49: 1537-1544

Glass CK, 1994. Differential recognition of target genes by nuclear receptor monomers, dimers and heterodimers. *Endocr. Rev. 15: 391-407*

Goglia F, Lanni A, Barth J, Kadenbach B, 1994. Interaction of diiodothyronines with isolated cytochrome *c* oxidase. *FEBS Lett.* 346: 295-298

Greenspan SL, Greenspan FS, 1999. The effects of thyroid hormone on skeletal integrity. Ann. Intern. Med. 130: 750-758

Gu Y, Lindner J, Kumar A, Yuan W, Magnuson MA, 2011. Rictor/mTORC2 is essential for maintaining a balance between beta-cell proliferation and cell size. *Diabetes 60: 827-837*

Harrison AP, Clausen T, 1998. Thyroid hormone-induced upregulation of Na⁺ channels and Na⁺-K⁺ pumps: implications for contractility. *Am. J. Physiol.* 274: *R* 864-867

Harrison SA, Day CP, 2007. Benefits of lifestyle modification in NAFLD. Gut 56: 1760-1769

Henneman G, Docter R, Friesema ECH, De Jong M, Krenning EP, Visser TJ, 2001. Plasma Membrane transport of Thyroid Hormones and Its Role in Thyroid Hormone Metabolism and Bioavailability. *Endocr. Rev.* 22: 451-476

Henry RR, Crapo PA, Thorburn AW, 1991. Current issues in fructose metabolism. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 11: 21-39

Higuchi M, Aggarwal BB, Yeh ET, 1997. Activation of CPP32-like protease in tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis is dependent on mitochondrial function. J. Clin. Invest. 99: 1751-1758

Hosokawa N, Hara T, Kaizuka T, Kishi C, Takamura A, Miura Y, Iemura S, Natsume T, Takehana K, Yamada N, Guan JL, Oshiro N, Mizushima N, 2009. Nutrientdependent mTORC1 association with the ULK1-Atg13-FIP200 complex required for autophagy. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 20: 1981-1991

Hotamisligil GS, Peraldi P, Budavari A, Ellis R, White MF, Spiegelman BM, 1996. IRS-1-mediated inhibition of insulin receptor tyrosine kinase activity in TNF-alphaand obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Science 271: 665-668*

Hotamisligil GS, 2010. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the inflammatory basis of metabolic disease. *Cell 140: 900-917*

Hug H, Strand S, Grambihler A, Galle J, Hack V, Stremmel W, Krammer PH, Galle PR, 1997. Reactive oxygen intermediates are involved in the induction of CD95 ligand mRNA expression by cytostatic drugs in hepatoma cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272: 28191-28193

Inayat-Hussain SH, Couet C, Cohen GM, Cain K, 1997. Processing/activation of CPP32-like proteases is involved in transforming growth factor beta1-induced apoptosis in rat hepatocytes. *Hepatology* 25: 1516-1526

Incerpi S, Luly P, De Vito P, Farias RN, 1999. Short-term effects of thyroid hormones on the Na/H antiport in L-6 myoblasts: high molecular specificity for 3,3',5-triiodo-L-thyronine. *Endocrinology 140: 683-689*

Inoki K, Li Y, Zhu T, Wu J, Guan KL, 2002. TSC2 is phosphorylated and inhibited by Akt and suppresses mTOR signalling. *Nat. Cell. Biol. 4: 648-657*

Inoki K, Ouyang H, Zhu T, Lindvall C, Wang Y, Zhang X, Yang Q, Bennett C, Harada Y, Stankunas K, Wang CY, He X, MacDougald OA, You M, Williams BO, Guan KL, 2006. TSC2 integrates Wnt and energy signals via a coordinated phosphorylation by AMPK and GSK3 to regulate cell growth. *Cell 126: 955-968*

Jacinto E, Loewith R, Schmidt A, Lin S, Rüegg MA, Hall A, Hall MN, 2004. Mammalian TOR complex 2 controls the actin cytoskeleton and is rapamycin insensitive. *Nat. Cell. Biol. 6: 1122-1128*

Johnson NA, George J, 2010. Fitness versus fatness: moving beyond weight loss in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology 52: 370-81*

Joseph AE, Saverymuttu SH, al-Sam S, Cook MG, Maxwell JD, 1991. Comparison of liver histology with ultrasonography in assessing diffuse parenchymal liver disease. *Clin. Radiol.* 43: 26-31

Jungermann K, Kietzmann T, 1996. Zonation of parenchymal and nonparenchymal metabolism in liver. *Annu. Rev. Nutr. 16: 179-203*

Jurczak MJ, Lee AH, Jornayvaz FR, Lee HY, Birkenfeld AL, Guigni BA, Samuel VT, Glimcher LH, Shulman GI, 2012. Dissociation of inositol-requiring enzyme (IRE1a)mediated c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation from hepatic insulin resistance in conditional X-box-binding protein-1 (XBP1) knockout mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287: 2558-2567

Kaneko JJ, 1989. Thyroid function. In: Kaneko JJ, editor. Clinical biochemistry of domestic animals. New York: Academic Press, Inc. p. 634-635

Kantidakis T, Ramsbottom BA, Birch JL, Dowding SN, White RJ, 2010. mTOR associates with TFIIIC, is found at tRNA and 5S rRNA genes, and targets their repressor Maf1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107: 11823-11828*

Kavok NS, Krasilnikova OA, Babenko NA, 2001. Thyroxine signal transduction in liver cells involves phospholipase C and phospholipase D activation. Genomic independent action of thyroid hormone. *BMC Cell. Biol.;2:5*

Kanuri G, Spruss A, Wagnerberger S, Bischoff SC, Bergheim I, 2011. Role of tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) in the onset of fructose-induced nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* 22: 527-534

Klein I, Ojamaa K, 1998. Thyrotoxicosis and the heart. *Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. N.* Am. 27: 51-62

Kleiner DE, Brunt EM, Van Natta M, Behling C, Contos MJ, Cummings OW, Ferrel LD, Liu YC, Torbenson MS, Unalp-Arida A, Yeh M, McCullogh AJ, Sanyal AJ, 2005. Design and validation of a histological scoring system for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology 41: 1313-1321*

Kleinman HK, McGarvey ML, Liotta LA, Robey PG, Tryggvason K, Martin GR, 1982. Isolation and characterization of type IV procollagen, laminin, and heparan sulfate proteoglycan from the EHS sarcoma. *Biochemistry 21: 6188-6193*

Kohli R, Kirby M, Xanthakos SA, Softic S, Feldstein AE, Saxena V, Tang PH, Miles L, Miles MV, Balistreri WF, Woods SC, Seeley RJ, 2010. High-fructose, medium chain trans fat diet induces liver fibrosis and elevates plasma coenzyme Q9 in a novel murine model of obesity and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology* 52: 934-944

Kohrle J, 2000. The selenoenzyme family of deiodinases isozymes controls local thyroid hormone availability. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disorders 1: 49-58*

Koren I, Reem E, Kimchi A, 2010. DAP1, a novel substrate of mTOR, negatively regulates autophagy. *Curr. Biol. 20: 1093-1098*

Kubota N, Tobe K, Terauchi Y, Eto K, Yamauchi T, Suzuki R, Tsubamoto Y, Komeda K, Nakano R, Miki H, Satoh S, Sekihara H, Sciacchitano S, Lesniak M, Aizawa S, Nagai R, Kimura S, Akanuma Y, Taylor SI, Kadowaki T, 2000. Disruption of insulin receptor substrate 2 causes type 2 diabetes because of liver insulin resistance and lack of compensatory beta-cell hyperplasia. *Diabetes 49: 1880-1889*

Kumar A, Harris TE, Keller SR, Choi KM, Magnuson MA, Lawrence JC Jr, 2008. Muscle-specific deletion of rictor impairs insulin-stimulated glucose transport and enhances Basal glycogen synthase activity. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28: 61-70

Kumar A, Lawrence JC Jr, Jung DY, Ko HJ, Keller SR, Kim JK, Magnuson MA, Harris TE, 2010. Fat cell-specific ablation of rictor in mice impairs insulin-regulated fat cell and whole-body glucose and lipid metabolism. *Diabetes 59: 1397-1406*

Kunz J, Henriquez R, Schneider U, Deuter-Reinhard M, Movva NR, Hall MN, 1993. Target of rapamycin in yeast, TOR2, is an essential phosphatidylinositol kinase homolog required for G1 progression. *Cell* 73: 585-596

Laemmli UK, 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature 15: 227: 680-685*

Lancaster JR Jr, Laster SM, Gooding LR, 1989. Inhibition of target cell mitochondrial electron transfer by tumor necrosis factor. *FEBS Lett.* 248: 169-174

Lanni A, Moreno M, Cioffi M, Goglia F, 1992. Effect of 3,3'-diiodothyronine and 3,5diiodothyronine on rat liver oxidative capacity. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 86: 143-148

Lanni A, Moreno M, Lombardi A, Goglia F, 1994. Rapid stimulation in vitro of rat liver cytochrome oxidase activity by 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine and by 3,3'-diiodo-L-thyronine. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 99: 89-94

Lanni A, Moreno M, Lombardi A, Goglia F, 1996. Calorigenic effect of diiodothyronines in the rat. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 494: 831-837

Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2009. An emerging role of mTOR in lipid biosynthesis. *Curr. Biol.* 19: R1046-1052

Laplante M, Sabatini DM, 2012. mTOR Signaling in Growth Control and Disease. *Cell 149: 274-293*

Lazar MA, Chin WW, 1990. Nuclear thyroid hormone receptors. J. Clin. Invest. 86: 1777-1778

Lê KA, Faeh D, Stettler R, Ith M, Kreis R, Vermathen P, Boesch C, Ravussin E, Tappy L, 2006. A 4-wk high-fructose diet alters lipid metabolism without affecting insulin sensitivity or ectopic lipids in healthy humans. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 84: 1374-1379

Lê KA, Ith M, Kreis R, Faeh D, Bortolotti M, Tran C, Boesch C, Tappy L, 2009. Fructose overconsumption causes dyslipidemia and ectopic lipid deposition in healthy subjects with and without a family history of type 2 diabetes. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 89: 1760-1765

Leclercq IA, Farrell GC, Field J, Bell DR, Gonzales FJ, Robertson GR, 2000. CYP2E1 and CYP4A as microsomal catalysts of lipid peroxides in murine non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *J. Clin. Invest.* 105: 1067-1075

LeCluyse EL, Alexandre E, 2010. Isolation and Culture of Primary Hepatocytes from Resected Human Liver Tissue. In *"Hepatocytes – Methods and Protocols" Humana Press pp: 57-82*

Lee DF, Kuo HP, Chen CT, Hsu JM, Chou CK, Wei Y, Sun HL, Li LY, Ping B, Huang WC, He X, Hung JY, Lai CC, Ding Q, Su JL, Yang JY, Sahin AA, Hortobagyi GN, Tsai FJ, Tsai CH, Hung MC, 2007. IKK beta suppression of TSC1 links inflammation and tumor angiogenesis via the mTOR pathway. *Cell 130: 440-455*

Lee SK, Lee JO, Kim JH, Kim SJ, You GY, Moon JW, Jung JH, Park SH, Uhm KO, Park JM, Suh PG, Kim HS, 2011. Metformin sensitizes insulin signaling through AMPK-mediated PTEN down-regulation in preadipocyte 3T3-L1 cells. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 112: 1259-1267

Leonarduzzi G, Scavazza A, Biasi F, Chiarpotto E, Camandola S, Vogel S, Dargel R, Poli G, 1997. The lipid peroxidation end product 4-hydroxy-2,3-nonenal up-regulates transforming growth factor beta1 expression in the macrophage lineage: a link between oxidative injury and fibrosclerosis. *FASEB J. 11:* 851-857

Li Y, Soos TJ, Li X, Wu J, Degennaro M, Sun X, Littman DR, Birnbaum MJ, Polakiewicz RD, 2004. Protein Kinase C θ Inhibits Insulin Signaling by Phosphorylating IRS1 at Ser¹¹⁰¹. J. Biol. Chem. 279: 45304-45307

Lindgren CM, Heid IM, Randall JC, Lamina C, Steinthorsdottir V, Qi L, Speliotes EK, Thorleifsson G, Willer CJ, Herrera BM, Jackson AU, Lim N, Scheet P, Soranzo N, Amin N, Aulchenko YS, Chambers JC, Drong A, Luan J, Lyon HN, Rivadeneira F, Sanna S, Timpson NJ, Zillikens MC, Zhao JH, Almgren P, Bandinelli S, Bennett AJ, Bergman RN, Bonnycastle LL, Bumpstead SJ, Chanock SJ, Cherkas L, Chines P, Coin L, Cooper C, Crawford G, Doering A, Dominiczak A, Doney AS, Ebrahim S, Elliott P, Erdos MR, Estrada K, Ferrucci L, Fischer G, Forouhi NG, Gieger C, Grallert H, Groves CJ, Grundy S, Guiducci C, Hadley D, Hamsten A, Havulinna AS, Hofman A, Holle R, Holloway JW, Illig T, Isomaa B, Jacobs LC, Jameson K, Jousilahti P, Karpe F, Kuusisto J, Laitinen J, Lathrop GM, Lawlor DA, Mangino M, McArdle WL, Meitinger T, Morken MA, Morris AP, Munroe P, Narisu N, Nordström A, Nordström P, Oostra BA, Palmer CN, Payne F, Peden JF, Prokopenko I, Renström F, Ruokonen A, Salomaa V, Sandhu MS, Scott LJ, Scuteri A, Silander K, Song K, Yuan X, Stringham HM, Swift AJ, Tuomi T, Uda M, Vollenweider P, Waeber G, Wallace C, Walters GB, Weedon MN; Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium, Witteman JC, Zhang C, Zhang W, Caulfield MJ, Collins FS, Davey Smith G, Day IN, Franks PW, Hattersley AT, Hu FB, Jarvelin MR, Kong A, Kooner JS, Laakso M, Lakatta E, Mooser V, Morris AD, Peltonen L, Samani NJ, Spector TD, Strachan DP, Tanaka T, Tuomilehto J, Uitterlinden AG, van Duijn CM, Wareham NJ, Hugh Watkins; Procardis Consortia, Waterworth DM, Boehnke M, Deloukas P, Groop L, Hunter DJ, Thorsteinsdottir U, Schlessinger D, Wichmann HE, Frayling TM, Abecasis GR, Hirschhorn JN, Loos RJ, Stefansson K, Mohlke KL, Barroso I, McCarthy MI; Genetic Investigation of ANthropometric Traits Consortium, 2009. Genome-wide association scan meta-analysis identifies three new loci influencing adiposity and fat distribution. PLoS Genet. 5(6): e1000508

Lombardi A, Beneduce L, Moreno M, Diano S, Colantuoni V, Ursini MV, Lanni A, Goglia F, 2000. 3,5-Diiodo-L-Thyronine Regulates Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase Activity in the Rat. *Endocrinology* 141: 1729-1734

Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ, 1951. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J. Biol. Chem. 193: 265-275

Ma L, Chen Z, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Pandolfi PP, 2005. Phosphorylation and functional inactivation of TSC2 by Erk implications for tuberous sclerosis and cancer pathogenesis. *Cell 121: 179-193*

Ma XM, Blenis J, 2009. Molecular mechanisms of mTOR-mediated translational control. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10: 307-318

Madrahimov N, Dirsch O, Broelsch C, Dahmen U, 2006. Marginal Hepatectomy in the Rat – From Anatomy to Surgery. *Ann. Surg.* 244: 89-98

Matsuzaki H, Daitoku H, Hatta M, Tanaka K, Fukamizu A, 2003. Insulin-induced phosphorylation of FKHR (Foxo1) targets to proteasomal degradation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100: 11285-11290*

Mauvais-Jarvis F, Ueki K, Fruman DA, Hirshman MF, Sakamoto K, Goodyear LJ, Iannacone M, Accili D, Cantley LC, Kahn CR, 2002. Reduced expression of the murine p85alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase improves insulin signaling and ameliorates diabetes. *J. Clin. Invest.* 109: 141-149

Moldeus P, Hodberg J, Orrenius S, 1978 In: Method. Enzimol. eds Fleisher S. and Packer L. Academic Press, New York; 52 (part C):60-71

Moran TH, 2009. Fructose and satiety. J. Nutr. 139: 1253S-1256S

Moreno M, Silvestri E, Lombardi A, Visser TJ, Goglia F, Lanni A, 2003. Identification of 3,5-Diiodo-L-Thyronine-Binding Proteins in Rat Liver Cytosol by Photoaffinity Labeling. *Endocrinology* 144: 2297-2203

Morino K, Petersen KF, Shulman GI, 2006. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in humans and their potential links with mitochondrial dysfunction. *Diabetes 55: S9-S15*

Morton GJ, Cummings DE, Baskin DG, Barsh GS, Schwartz MW, 2006. Central nervous system control of food intake and body weight. *Nature* 443: 289-295

Mozaffarian D, Hao T, Rimm EB, Willett WC, Hu FB, 2011. Changes in diet and lifestyle and long-term weight gain in women and men. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 364: 2392-2404

Nakamura S, Takamura T, Matsuzawa-Nagata N, Takayama H, Misu H, Noda H, Nabemoto S, Kurita S, Ota T, Ando H, Miyamoto K, Kaneko S, 2009. Palmitate Induces Insulin Resistance in H4IIEC3 Hepatocytes through Reactive Oxygen Species Produced by Mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284: 14809-14818

Narayan KM, Boyle JP, Thompson TJ, Sorensen SW, Williamson DF, 2003. Lifetime risk for diabetes mellitus in the United States. *JAMA 290: 1884-1890*

Ngo Sock ET, Lê KA, Ith M, Kreis R, Boesch C, Tappy L, 2010. Effects of a short-term overfeeding with fructose or glucose in healthy young males. *Br. J. Nutr. 103:* 939-943

Olsavsky KM, Page JL, Johnson MC, Zarbl H, Strom SC, Omiecinski CJ, 2007. Gene expression profiling and differentiation assessment in primary human hepatocyte cultures, established hepatoma cell lines, and human liver tissues. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 222: 42-56

Oppenheimer JH, Schwartz HL, Strait KA, 1995. An integrated view of thyroid hormone actions in vivo. In: *Molecular Endocrinology: Basic Concepts and Clinical Correlations. Weintraub B. New York: Raven 249-268*

Ozcan U, Ozcan L, Yilmaz E, Düvel K, Sahin M, Manning BD, Hotamisligil GS, 2008. Loss of the tuberous sclerosis complex tumor suppressors triggers the unfolded protein response to regulate insulin signaling and apoptosis. *Mol. Cell.* 29: 541-551

Padoa E, 1978. Manuale di anatomia comparata dei vertebrati. Feltrinelli

Pan A, Hu FB, 2011. Effects of carbohydrates on satiety: differences between liquid and solid food. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care.* 14: 385-390

Paz K, Hemi R, LeRoith D, Karasik A, Elhanany E, Kanety H, Zick Y, 1997. A molecular basis for insulin resistance. Elevated serine/threonine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and IRS-2 inhibits their binding to the juxtamembrane region of the insulin receptor and impairs their ability to undergo insulin-induced tyrosine phosphorylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272: 29911-29918

Petersen KF, Dufour S, Savage DB, Bilz S, Solomon G, Yonemitsu S, Cline GW, Befroy D, Zemany L, Kahn BB, Papademetris X, Rothman DL, Shulman GI, 2007. The role of skeletal muscle insulin resistance in the pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104: 12587-12594*

Peterson GL, 1979. Review of the Folin Phenol Protein Quantitation Method of Lowry, Rosebrough, Farr, and Randall. *Anal. Biochem. 100: 201-220*

Peterson TR, Sengupta SS, Harris TE, Carmack AE, Kang SA, Balderas E, Guertin DA, Madden KL, Carpenter AE, Finck BN, Sabatini DM, 2011. mTOR complex 1 regulates lipin 1 localization to control the SREBP pathway. *Cell 146: 408-420*

Philp A, Hamilton DL, Baar K, 2011. Signals mediating skeletal muscle remodeling by resistance exercise: PI3-kinase independent activation of mTORC1. J. Appl. Physiol. 110: 561-568

Pischon T, Boeing H, Hoffmann K, Bergmann M, Schulze MB, Overvad K, van der Schouw YT, Spencer E, Moons KG, Tjønneland A, Halkjaer J, Jensen MK, Stegger J, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault MC, Chajes V, Linseisen J, Kaaks R, Trichopoulou A, Trichopoulos D, Bamia C, Sieri S, Palli D, Tumino R, Vineis P, Panico S, Peeters PH, May AM, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, van Duijnhoven FJ, Hallmans G, Weinehall L, Manjer J, Hedblad B, Lund E, Agudo A, Arriola L, Barricarte A, Navarro C, Martinez C, Quirós JR, Key T, Bingham S, Khaw KT, Boffetta P, Jenab M, Ferrari P, Riboli E, 2008. General and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in Europe. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 359: 2105-2120

Powell DJ, Hajduch E, Kular G, Hundal HS, 2003. Ceramide disables 3-phosphoinositide binding to the pleckstrin homology domain of protein kinase B (PKB)/Akt by a PKCzeta-dependent mechanism. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23:7794-7808

Rabie A, Favre C, Clavel MC, Legrand J, 1977. Effects of thyroid dysfunction on the development of the rat cerebellum, with special reference to cell death within the internal granular layer. *Brain Res. 120: 521-531*

Randall D, Burggren W, French K, 1997. Eckert Animal Physiology – Mechanisms and Adaptations, Fourth Edition. W.H. Freeman and Company – New York. p. 331-333

Report of the Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus, 2002. *Diabetes Care 25 (suppl 1): S5-S20*

Robbins J, 2000. Thyroid hormone transport proteins and the physiology of hormone binding. In: Werner and Ingbar's The Thyroid δ^{th} ed., edited by Braverman L and Utiger R. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins p. 105-120

Ruderman N, Chisholm D, Pi-Sunyer X, Schneider S, 1998. The metabolically obese, normal-weight individual revisited. *Diabetes* 47: 699-713

Rui L, Aguirre V, Kim JK, Shulman GI, Lee A, Corbould A, Dunaif A, White MF, 2001. Insulin/IGF-1 and TNF- α stimulate phosphorylation of IRS-1 at inhibitory Ser³⁰⁷ via distinct pathways. *J. Clin. Invest.* 107: 181-189

Sakaguchi Y, Cui G, Sen L, 1996. Acute effects of thyroid hormone on inward rectifier potassium channel currents in guinea pig ventricular myocytes. *Endocrinology* 137: 4744-4751

Samuel VT, Petersen KF, Shulman GI, 2010. Lipid-induced insulin resistance: unravelling the mechanism. *Lancet* 375: 2267-2277

Samuel VT, Shulman GI, 2012. Mechanisms for Insulin Resistance: Common Threads and Missing Links. *Cell 148: 852-871*

Samuels HH, Forman BM, Horowitz ZD, Ye S, 1988. Regulation of gene expression by thyroid hormone. J. Clin. Invest. 81: 957-967

Samuels MH, Henry P, Ridgway EC, 1992. Effects of Dopamine and Somatostatin on Pulsatile Pituitary Glycoprotein Secretion. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 74: 217-222

Sancak Y, Peterson TR, Shaul YD, Lindquist RA, Thoreen CC, Bar-Peled L, Sabatini DM, 2008. The Rag GTPases bind raptor and mediate amino acid signaling to mTORC1. *Science 320: 1496-1501*

Sancak Y, Bar-Peled L, Zoncu R, Markhard AL, Nada S, Sabatini DM, 2010. Ragulator-Rag complex targets mTORC1 to the lysosomal surface and is necessary for its activation by amino acids. *Cell 141: 290-303*

Sanyal AJ, Campbell-Sargent C, Mirshahi F, Rizzo WB, Contos MJ, Sterling RK, Luketic VA, Shiffman ML, Clore JN, 2001. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: association of insulin resistance and mitochondrial abnormalities. *Gastroenterology 120:1183-1192*

Sanyal AJ, Chalasani N, Kowdley KV, McCullough A, Diehl AM, Bass NM, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Lavine JE, Tonascia J, Unalp A, Van Natta M, Clark J, Brunt EM, Kleiner DE, Hoofnagle JH, Robuck PR; NASH CRN, 2010. Pioglitazone, vitamin E, or placebo for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 362: 1675-1685

Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM, 2005. Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. *Science* 307: 1098-1101

Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, Sengupta S, Sheen JH, Hsu PP, Bagley AF, Markhard AL, Sabatini DM, 2006. Prolonged rapamycin treatment inhibits mTORC2 assembly and Akt/PKB. *Mol. Cell.* 22: 159-168

Sastre J, Pallardó FV, Llopis J, Furukawa T, Viña JR, Viña J, 1989. Glutathione depletion by hyperphagia-induced obesity. *Life Sci.* 45: 183-187

Scarabottolo L, Trezzi E, Roma P, Catapano AL, 1986. Experimental hypothyroidism modulates the expression of the low density lipoprotein receptor by the liver. *Atherosclerosis 59: 329-333*

Scarlett A, Parsons MP, Hanson PL, Sidhu KK, Milligan TP, Burrin JM, 2008. Thyroid hormone stimulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase and cell proliferation in human osteoblast-like cells is initiated at integrin alphaVbeta3. *J. Endocrinol.* 196: 509-517

Schattenberg JM, Wang Y, Singh R, Rigoli RM, Czaja MJ, 2005. Hepatocyte CYP2E1 overexpression and steatohepatitis lead to impaired hepatic insulin signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280: 9887-9894

Schwartz MW, Porte Jr D, 2005. Diabetes, Obesity, and the Brain. *Science 307: 375-379*

Schwimmer JB, Celedon MA, Lavine JE, Salem R, Campbell N, Schork NJ, Shiehmorteza M, Yokoo T, Chavez A, Middleton MS, Sirlin CB, 2009. Heritability of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 136: 1585-1592

Segal J, Ingbar SH, 1981. Studies on the mechanism by which 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine stimulates 2-deoxyglucose uptake in rat thymocytes in vitro. Role of calcium and adenosine 3'-5'-monophosphate. J. Clin. Invest. 68: 103-110

Segal MS, Gollub E, Johnson RJ, 2007. Is the fructose index more relevant with regards to cardiovascular disease than the glycemic index? *Eur. J. Nutr.* 46: 406-417

Sengupta S, Peterson TR, Laplante M, Oh S, Sabatini DM, 2010. mTORC1 controls fasting-induced ketogenesis and its modulation by ageing. *Nature* 468: 1100-1104

Settembre C, Zoncu R, Medina DL, Vetrini F, Erdin S, Erdin S, Huynh T, Ferron M, Karsenty G, Vellard MC, Facchinetti V, Sabatini DM, Ballabio A, 2012. A lysosome-to-nucleus signalling mechanism senses and regulates the lysosome via mTOR and TFEB. *EMBO J.* 31: 1095-1108

Severson DL, Fletcher T, 1981. Effect of thyroid hormones on acid cholesterol esters hydrolase activity in rat liver, heart and epididymal fat pads. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 675: 256-264

Shen YH, Zhang L, Gan Y, Wang X, Wang J, LeMaire SA, Coselli JS, Wang XL, 2006. Up-regulation of PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome ten) mediates p38 MAPK stress signal-induced inhibition of insulin signaling. A cross-talk between stress signaling and insulin signaling in resistin-treated human endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 281: 7727-7736

Shigeyama Y, Kobayashi T, Kido Y, Hashimoto N, Asahara S, Matsuda T, Takeda A, Inoue T, Shibutani Y, Koyanagi M, Uchida T, Inoue M, Hino O, Kasuga M, Noda T, 2008. Biphasic response of pancreatic beta-cell mass to ablation of tuberous sclerosis complex 2 in mice. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28: 2971-2979

Sievenpiper JL, Chiavaroli L, de Souza RJ, Mirrahimi A, Cozma AI, Ha V, Wang DD, Yu ME, Carleton AJ, Beyene J, Di Buono M, Jenkins AL, Leiter LA, Wolever TM, Kendall CW, Jenkins DJ, 2012. 'Catalytic' doses of fructose may benefit glycaemic control without harming cardiometabolic risk factors: a small meta-analysis of randomised controlled feeding trials. *Br. J. Nutr. 108: 418-423* [a]

Sievenpiper JL, de Souza RJ, Mirrahimi A, Yu ME, Carleton AJ, Beyene J, Chiavaroli L, Di Buono M, Jenkins AL, Leiter LA, Wolever TM, Kendall CW, Jenkins D, 2012. Effect of fructose on body weight in controlled feeding trials: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann. Intern. Med. 156: 291-304* [b]

Singh R, Wang Y, Xiang Y, Tanaka KE, Gaarde WA, Czaja MJ, 2009. Differential effects of JNK1 and JNK2 inhibition on murine steatohepatitis and insulin resistance. *Hepatology 49: 87-96*

Soenen S, Westerterp-Plantenga MS, 2007. No differences in satiety or energy intake after high-fructose corn syrup, sucrose, or milk preloads. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 86: 1586-1594

Sparks LM, Xie H, Koza RA, Mynatt R, Hulver MW, Bray GA, Smith SR, 2005. A high-fat diet coordinately downregulates genes required for mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in skeletal muscle. *Diabetes 54: 1926-1933*

Spruss A, Kanuri G, Wagnerberger S, Haub S, Bischoff SC, Bergheim I, 2009. Tolllike receptor 4 is involved in the development of fructose-induced hepatic steatosis in mice. *Hepatology 50: 1094-1104*

St. George A, Bauman A, Johnston A, Farrell G, Chey T, George J, 2009. Independent Effects of Physical Activity in Patients with Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *Hepatology* 50: 68-76

Stryer L, 1997. Biochemistry – Fourth Edition, Fourth Printing. W.H. Freeman and Company – New York

Taurog A, 1996. Hormone synthesis. In: Werner and Ingbar's The Thyroid, edited by Braverman L and Utiger R. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott-Raven p. 47-81

Teruel T, Hernandez R, Lorenzo M, 2001. Ceramide mediates insulin resistance by tumor necrosis factor-alpha in brown adipocytes by maintaining Akt in an inactive dephosphorylated state. *Diabetes 50: 2563-2571*

Tremblay F, Brûlé S, Hee Um S, Li Y, Masuda K, Roden M, Sun XJ, Krebs M, Polakiewicz RD, Thomas G, Marette A, 2007. Identification of IRS-1 Ser-1101 as a target of S6K1 in nutrient- and obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104: 14056-14061*

Tuominen RH, Mannusto PT, Mattila J, 1985. Studies on the sites and mechanisms of the inhibitory action of the intracerebral histamine on the cold-stimulated thyrotropin secretion in male rats. *Brain Res.* 343: 329-335

Um SH, Frigerio F, Watanabe M, Picard F, Joaquin M, Sticker M, Fumagalli S, Allegrini PR, Kozma SC, Auwerx J, Thomas G, 2004. Absence of S6K1 protects against age- and diet-induced obesity while enhancing insulin sensitivity. *Nature 431: 200-205*

Vander Haar E, Lee SI, Bandhakavi S, Griffin TJ, Kim DH, 2007. Insulin signalling to mTOR mediated by the Akt/PKB substrate PRAS40. *Nat. Cell. Biol.* 9: 316-323

Verga Falzacappa C, Petrucci E, Patriarca V, Michienzi S, Stigliano A, Brunetti E, Toscano V, Misiti S, 2007. Thyroid hormone receptor TRbeta1 mediates Akt activation by T3 in pancreatic beta cells. *J. Mol. Endocrinol.* 38: 221-233

Verga Falzacappa C, Patriarca V, Bucci B, Mangialardo C, Michienzi S, Moriggi G, Stigliano A, Brunetti E, Toscano V, Misiti S, 2009. The TRbeta1 is essential in mediating T3 action on Akt pathway in human pancreatic insulinoma cells. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 106: 835-848

Vidyashankar S, Sandeep Varma R, Patki PS, 2013. Quercetin ameliorate insulin resistance and up-regulates cellular antioxidants during oleic acid induced hepatic steatosis in HepG2 cells. *Toxicol In Vitro* 27: 945-953

Zatloukal K, Böck G, Rainer I, Denk H, Weber K, 1991. High molecular weight components are main constituents of Mallory bodies isolated with a fluorescence activated cell sorter. *Lab. Invest.* 64:200-206

Zhang X, Gan L, Pan H, Guo S, He X, Olson ST, Mesecar A, Adam S, Unterman TG, 2002. Phosphorylation of serine 256 suppresses transactivation by FKHR (FOXO1) by multiple mechanisms. Direct and indirect effects on nuclear/cytoplasmic shuttling and DNA binding. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277: 45276-45284

Zimmet P, Alberti KG, Shaw J, 2001. Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. *Nature* 414:782-787

Zinzalla V, Stracka D, Oppliger W, Hall MN, 2011. Activation of mTORC2 by association with the ribosome. *Cell 144: 757-768*

Zoncu R, Bar-Peled L, Efeyan A, Wang S, Sancak Y, Sabatini DM, 2011. mTORC1 senses lysosomal amino acids through an inside-out mechanism that requires the vacuolar H(+)-ATPase. *Science 334:* 678-683

Wahlefeld AW, Bergmeyer HU, 1974. Methods of Enzymatic Analysis. 2nd English ed. New York, NY: Academic Press Inc: 1831

Wang X, Hu Z, Hu J, Du J, Mitch WE, 2006. Insulin resistance accelerates muscle protein degradation: Activation of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway by defects in muscle cell signaling. *Endocrinology* 147: 4160-4168

Wang XL, Zhang L, Youker K, Zhang MX, Wang J, LeMaire SA, Coselli JS, Shen YH, 2006. Free fatty acids inhibit insulin signaling-stimulated endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation through upregulating PTEN or inhibiting Akt kinase. *Diabetes 55: 2301-2310*

Wang YG, Dedkova EN, Fiening JP, Ojamaa K, Blatter LA, Lipsius SL, 2003. Acute exposure to thyroid hormone increases Na+ current and intracellular Ca2+ in cat atrial myocytes. *J. Physiol.* 546: 491-499

Wassen FW, Klootwijk W, Kaptein E, Duncker DJ, Visser TJ, Kuiper GG, 2004. Characteristics and thyroid state-dependent regulation of iodothyronine deiodinases in pigs. *Endocrinology* 145: 4251-4263

Weltman MD, Farrell GC, Hall P, Ingelman-Sundberg M, Liddle C, 1998. Hepatic cytochrome P450 2E1 is increased in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology 27: 128-133*

White JS, 2008. Straight talk about high-fructose corn syrup: what it is and what it ain't. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 88: 1716S-1721S

Wilber JF, Utiger RB, 1969. The Effect of Glucocorticoids on Thyrotropin Secretion. J. Clinic. Invest. 48: 2096-2103

Willer CJ, Speliotes EK, Loos RJ, Li S, Lindgren CM, Heid IM, Berndt SI, Elliott AL, Jackson AU, Lamina C, Lettre G, Lim N, Lyon HN, McCarroll SA, Papadakis K, Qi L, Randall JC, Roccasecca RM, Sanna S, Scheet P, Weedon MN, Wheeler E, Zhao JH, Jacobs LC, Prokopenko I, Soranzo N, Tanaka T, Timpson NJ, Almgren P, Bennett A, Bergman RN, Bingham SA, Bonnycastle LL, Brown M, Burtt NP, Chines P, Coin L, Collins FS, Connell JM, Cooper C, Smith GD, Dennison EM, Deodhar P, Elliott P, Erdos MR, Estrada K, Evans DM, Gianniny L, Gieger C, Gillson CJ, Guiducci C, Hackett R, Hadley D, Hall AS, Havulinna AS, Hebebrand J, Hofman A, Isomaa B, Jacobs KB, Johnson T, Jousilahti P, Jovanovic Z, Khaw KT, Kraft P, Kuokkanen M, Kuusisto J, Laitinen J, Lakatta EG, Luan J, Luben RN, Mangino M, McArdle WL,

Meitinger T, Mulas A, Munroe PB, Narisu N, Ness AR, Northstone K, O'Rahilly S, Purmann C, Rees MG, Ridderstråle M, Ring SM, Rivadeneira F, Ruokonen A, Sandhu MS, Saramies J, Scott LJ, Scuteri A, Silander K, Sims MA, Song K, Stephens J, Stevens S, Stringham HM, Tung YC, Valle TT, Van Duijn CM, Vimaleswaran KS, Vollenweider P, Waeber G, Wallace C, Watanabe RM, Waterworth DM, Watkins N; Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium, Witteman JC, Zeggini E, Zhai G, Zillikens MC, Altshuler D, Caulfield MJ, Chanock SJ, Farooqi IS, Ferrucci L, Guralnik JM, Hattersley AT, Hu FB, Jarvelin MR, Laakso M, Mooser V, Ong KK, Ouwehand WH, Salomaa V, Samani NJ, Spector TD, Tuomi T, Tuomilehto J, Uda M, Uitterlinden AG, Wareham NJ, Deloukas P, Frayling TM, Groop LC, Hayes RB, Hunter DJ, Mohlke KL, Peltonen L, Schlessinger D, Strachan DP, Wichmann HE, McCarthy MI, Boehnke M, Barroso I, Abecasis GR, Hirschhorn JN; Genetic Investigation of ANthropometric Traits Consortium, 2009. Six new loci associated with body mass index highlight a neuronal influence on body weight regulation. *Nat. Genet.* 41: 25-34

Wrutniak-Cabello C, Casas F, Cabello G, 2001. Thyroid hormone action in mitochondria. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 26: 67-77

Yalcin M, Bharali DJ, Dyskin E, Dier E, Lansing L, Mousa SS, Davis FB, Davis PJ, Mousa SA, 2010. Tetraiodothyroacetic acid and tetraiodothyroacetic acid nanoparticle effectively inhibit the growth of human follicular thyroid cell carcinoma. *Thyroid 20:* 281-286

Yarwood NJ, Gurr JA, Sheppard MC, Franklyn JA, 1993. Estradiol modulates thyroid hormone regulation of the human glycoprotein hormone alpha subunit gene. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268: 21984-21989

Yecies JL, Zhang HH, Menon S, Liu S, Yecies D, Lipovsky AI, Gorgun C, Kwiatkowski DJ, Hotamisligil GS, Lee CH, Manning BD, 2011. Akt stimulates hepatic SREBP1c and lipogenesis through parallel mTORC1-dependent and independent pathways. *Cell. Metab.* 14: 21-32

Yen PM, 2001. Physiological and Molecular Basis of Thyroid Hormone Action. *Physiol. Rev.* 81: 1097-1142

Yoshimura T, Matsushima K, Tanaka S, Robinson EA, Appella E, Oppenheim JJ, Leonard EJ, 1987. Purification of a human monocyte-derived neutrophil chemotactic factor that has peptide sequence similarity to other host defense cytokines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 84: 9233-9237*

Yuan M, Pino E, Wu L, Kacergis M, Soukas AA, 2012. Identification of Aktindependent regulation of hepatic lipogenesis by mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) complex 2. J. Biol. Chem. 287: 29579-29588